Public Document Pack

" Teignbridg

_—_——— —— ——

DISTRICT COUHNCIL
South Devon

Forde House E-mail: comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk
Newton Abbot
Telephone No: 01626 215159

19 February 2019

STANDARDS

Dear Councillor

You are invited to a meeting of the above Committee which will take place on
Wednesday, 27th February, 2019 in the Council Chamber, Forde House, Brunel Road,
Newton Abbot, TQ12 4XX at 10.00 am

Yours sincerely

PHIL SHEARS

Managing Director

Distribution:

(1) The Members of the Standards
Councillor Rosalind Prowse
(Chairman)

Councillor Charlie Dennis (Vice-
Chairman)

Councillor Peter Bromell
Councillor Lorraine Evans
Councillor Richard Keeling
Councillor Roger Dowding (TALC
Representative)

A link to the agenda on the Council's website is emailed FOR INFORMATION (less
reports (if any) containing Exempt Information referred to in Part Il of the agenda), to:

(1) All other Members of the Council

(2) Representatives of the Press

(3) Requesting Town and Parish Councils

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination
or interests in items on this Agenda, please contact the
Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting




Public Access Statement

. There is an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions at this meeting.
Please submit your questions to comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk by 12 Noon two
working days before the meeting.

. If you would like this information in another format, please telephone 01626
361101 or e-mail info@teignbridge.gov.uk

. Agendas and reports are normally published on the Council’s website
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/agendas 5 working days prior to the meeting. If you
would like to receive an e-mail which contains a link to the website for all
forthcoming meetings, please email comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk

. Reports in Parts | and Il of this agenda are for public information. Any reports in
Part Il are exempt from publication due to the information included, under the
provisions of the Local Government Act 1972.

AGENDA

Part |

1. Apologies for Absence.
2. Minutes (Pages 1 -4)

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting.
3. Agreement of the agenda between parts | and Il

4. Matters of urgency/matters of report especially brought forward with the permission
of the Chairman.

5. Report into the Review of Standards in Public Life (Pages 5 - 68)

6. Review of the Code of Conduct (Pages 69 - 72)

PART Il
(Private)

Items which may be taken in the absence of the Public and Press on the grounds
that Exempt Information may be disclosed.

Nil


mailto:comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk
mailto:info@teignbridge.gov.uk
http://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/agendas
mailto:comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 2

STANDARDS

WEDNESDAY, 13 DECEMBER 2017

Present:

Councillors Prowse (Chairman), Dennis (Vice-Chairman), Ford, Keeling and
TALC representative Clir Dowding

Members Attendance:

Councillor G Hook

Apologies:
Councillors Bromell and TALC representative Swain

Officers in Attendance:

Neil Aggett, Democratic Services Manager & Monitoring Officer

241,

242,

MINUTES OF THE COMMITTEE

The Minutes of the meeting held on 3 November were confirmed as a correct
record and signed by the Chairman.

REVIEW OF COMMITTEE PROCESSES, DELEGATIONS AND OPTIONS FOR
THE CODE OF CONDUCT

Further to the Council and Standards Committee meetings on 3 November
2017, the Monitoring Officer commenced the review process for the
Committee’s processes, delegations and options for the Code of Conduct, by
reminding Members of the background to the adoption of the current code of
conduct, the discussions at Council, and the processes adopted, and referred
to the following reports and minutes:

Minutes of Standards Committee 19 June 2012

Report to the Standards Committee 19 June 2012

Report to Council 29 June 2012

Council Decision Minute 59/6/12

Adopted process for handling code of conduct complaints
The Council’'s Code of Conduct

The Coalition Government considered the process for dealing with complaints
under the regime at the time, too centralised. Consequently the system was
amended with the Localism Act 2012 and the devolution of complaint handling
to Local Authorities.

180
1



Standards (13.12.2017)

The Monitoring Officer advised that all complaints were investigated and
resolved. Confidentiality in the matter prevails until it is resolved. Should an
investigation conclude that the person being complained about has breached
the code of conduct, and this is accepted by the person being complained
about, the complaint is resolved, and the conclusion is no longer confidential.

Should the investigation conclude that the code of conduct has not been
breached the complaint and investigation remain confidential.

Should an investigation conclude a breach of the code of conduct, and which is
not accepted by the person being complained about, the issue will remain
confidential while a Hearing is undertaken.

Should the Hearing process conclude the code has been breached the decision
would then be in the public domain. At no time is an investigation in the public
domain if it is concluded that a breach of code has not occurred.

The Monitoring Officer has delegated powers to deal with complaints in
accordance with the Council’'s adopted complaints procedure until the Hearing
stage.

A resume of complaints received over the past few years is: 6 cases in 2012,
none in 2013; 2 cases in 2014; 5 cases in 2015 with 1 local resolution; 2 cases
in 2016; 8 cases in 2017 with 3 cases referred for investigation, one of which
concluded a breach of the code, which was accepted by the person being
complained about.

Consideration was also given to the Committee’s current role and function, as
set out in Article 11 of the Council’s Constitution as follows:

(a) to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-
opted members;

(b) to advise the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of
Conduct;

(c) to advise or train Councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to
the Members’ Code of Conduct;

(d) to deal with the local filtering of complaints and dispensation requests
(where these are not dealt with by the Monitoring Officer under delegated
powers);

(e) to conduct local hearings and determination of sanctions should a breach of
the code of conduct be found;

(f) overview of internal and external audit;

(g) overview of the whistle blowing policy;

(h) overview of complaints handling and Ombudsman investigations;

(i) oversight of the constitution; and

(j) the exercise of (c) above in relation to the Parish Councils wholly or mainly in
its area and (d) and (e) in relation to complaints about the members of those
Parish Councils.

181



Standards (13.12.2017)

It was noted that: (f) and (g) above fell within the auspices of the Audit Scrutiny
Committee; and (i) fell within the auspices of the Council. In relation to (h) it
was considered that a regular update and progress report this function should
be within the auspices of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, with regular
progress and update reports.

Resolved

(@)

(b)

A summary of the issues to discuss further are:

Appendix A Interests - whether the local requirement should continue for a
District Councillor to leave the room of the meeting having declared an
Appendix A interest.

Complaints for formal Investigation — a longer timescale than the current
14 days for notification to be given to the complainant and the person
being complained about, as to whether a complaint merits formal
investigation.

Voting rights for TALC Members /Independent Co-opted Committee
Member.

Should political balance continue to apply to the Committee.

Monitoring Officer — should the Monitoring Officer be a Solicitor, and the
role be provided by the legal department.

Local Resolutions — how long should a local resolution committee report
remain on the Council’s website.

Consultation with Parish/Town Council’s regarding the Code of Conduct.

A progress report on the Committee’s review be presented to Council.

Recommended

(c)

(i)
(ii)

That it be recommended to the Council that Article 11 of the Council’s
Constitution be amended so that the Committee’s role and function is as
follows:

To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors and
co-opted members.

To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of
Conduct.

(iii) To advise or train Councillors and co-opted members on matters relating

(iv)

to the Members’ Code of Conduct.
To deal with the local filtering of complaints and dispensation requests
(where these are not dealt with by the Monitoring Officer under delegated
powers).
To conduct local hearings and determination of sanctions should a breach
of the code of conduct be found.

The exercise of (iii)) above in relation to the Parish Councils wholly or
mainly in its area and (iv) and (v) in relation to complaints about the
members of those Parish Councils.

182
3



Standards (13.12.2017)

243. APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON AND COMMITTEE CO-OPTED
INDEPENDENT PERSON

Further to Council Minute 201/11/17, the Committee received an update on the
recruitment process for the appointment of an Independent Person and a
committee co-opted Independent Person. The recruitment packs were being
prepared and would be available for candidates, following advertisement of the
positions. The Committee’s recommendation for appointments following formal
interviews would be referred to Council for approval.

244. LOCAL COMPLAINT RESOLUTIONS
The report circulated with the agenda was noted regarding the decision and

action taken regarding a local resolution following a breach of the code by Clir
George Gribble.

CLLR ROSALIND PROWSE
Chairman

183



Agenda Item 5

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

CHAIRMAN: Clir Rosalind Prowse

DATE: 27 February 2019

REPORT OF: Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer
SUBJECT: Report into the Review of Standards in Public Life
RECOMMENDATION

The Standards Committee is asked to consider and discuss the report of the
Committee on Standards in Public Life and pending any changes in legislation,
consider whether it wishes to implement any of the best practice
recommendations.

1

1.1

2

2.1

2.2

2.3

PURPOSE
Please see words in italics under the above heading ‘Recommendation’.
BACKGROUND

Towards the end of last month, the national Committee on Standards in Public
Life published its report into its review of the standards regime in local
government (“the Report”). An Executive Summary of the Report is included
as Appendix A. Key chapters within the 100 plus paged document have also
been annexed to this report (see Appendix B). These chapters cover matters
affecting (i) codes of conduct (ii) investigations (iii) sanctions for breaches of
the code and (iv) leadership and culture within local authorities relevant to
standards. The full report is available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a
ttachment data/file/777315/6.4896 CO CSPL Command Paper on Local
Government Standards v4 WEB.PDF

The Report includes various recommendations to central government which
will necessitate a change in the legislation set out in the Localism Act 2011
(the statute which sets out the statutory framework upon which the Council’s
Members’ Code of Conduct is based). These recommendations are set out in
Appendix C.

Other recommendations include best practice, all of which can be applied
without changes to the law. These are included in Appendix D. The Council
could adopt them immediately. Recommendations 4, 7, and 8 have to date
already been applied by the Council, others have not been relevant due to the

5



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF

3.1

3.2

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

nature of complaints received (i.e. recommendation 13) and the remainder
could be applied. If the committee considers a review of the Code and
complaints procedure (to which the subsequent agenda item refers)
appropriate, any views expressed on the good practice recommendations
should be taken into account as part of the review.

CONCLUSION

It is worth noting the Report acknowledges that the vast majority of councillors
maintain high standards of conduct (as is the position with the Council), but
inevitably there are occasions when the standards of a few councillors fall
short of the high standards expected.

The Report promotes the retention of a system whereby local authorities
themselves retain responsibility for their standards but does advocate further
guidance from central government (through the introduction of a model code of
conduct which local authorities might adopt) and a higher level of sanctions (in
particular the reintroduction of a power to suspend councillors for up to six
months). Pending changes to the law, it is recommended that the Standards
Committee set out its views on the changes proposed, but only determines
whether to adopt all parts of the best practice guidance following a review of
the Code of Conduct and standards complaints procedure.

Officer Name: Karen Trickey
Officer Designation: Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer

The box below to be completed by the report author.

Wards affected All

Contact for any more information karen.trickey@teignbridge.gov.uk

Key Decision N

In Forward Plan N

In O&S Work Programme N

Appendices attached: Extracts from the Review by the Committee on

Standards in Public Life — January 2019

A - Executive Summary

B - Findings on Codes of Practice & Interests;
Investigations & Safeguards; Sanctions; Leadership &
Culture

C - List of Recommendations where law to change

D - Best Practice recommendations within existing law



mailto:karen.trickey@teignbridge.gov.uk

Executive summary

Aepenvix A

Executive summary

Local government impacts the lives of citizens
every day. Local authorities are responsible
for'a wide range of important services: social
care, education, housing, planning and

waste collection, as well as services such as
licensing, registering births, marriages and
deaths, and pest controk. Their proximity to
local people means that their decisions can .
directly affect citizens’ quality: of life.

High standards of conduct in local government
are therefore needed to protect the integrity of
- decision-making, maintain public confidence,
and safeguard local democracy.

Our evidence supports the view that the vast
majority of councillors and officers maintain
high standards of conduct. There is, however,
clear evidence of misconduct by some
councillors. The majority of these cases relate
to bullying or harassment, or other disruptive

- behaviour. There is also evidence of persistent
or repeated misconduct by a mlnorlty of
councillors.

We are also concerned about a risk to
standards under the current arrangements,
as a result of the current rules around
declaring interests, gifts and hospitality, and
the increased complexity of local government
decision-making.

Giving local authorities responsibility for
ethical standards has a number of benefits.
It-allows for flexibility and the discretion to
resolve standards issues informally. We have
considered whether there is a need fora
centralised body to govern and adjudicate on
standards. We have concluded that whilst the
' consistency and independence of the system

- could be enhanced, there is no reason to

reintroduce a centralised body, and that local

10

authorities should retain ultimate responsibility
for implementing and applying the Seven
Principles of Public Life in local government.

We have made a number of recommendations
and identified best practice to improve
ethical standards in local government. Our

‘recommendations are made to government

and to specific groups of public office-
holders. We recommend a number of
changes to primary legislation, which would
be subject to Parliamentary timetabling; but
also to secondary legislation and the Local
Gayernment Transparency Code, which we
expect could be implemented more swiftly.
Our best practice recommendations for local
authorities should be considered a benchmark
of good ethical practice, which we expect that
all local authorities can and should implement.
We will review the implementation of our best
praonce in 2020.

Codes of conduct

Local authorities are currently required to
have in place a code of conduct of their.
choosing which outlines the behaviour
required-of councillors. There is considerable
variation in the length, quality and clarity of
codes of conduct. This creates confusion
among members of the public, and among
councillors who represent more than one tier
of local government. Many codes of conduct

- fail to address adequately important areas .-

of behaviour such as social media use and
bullying and harassment. An updated model
code of conduct should therefore be available
to local authorities in order to enhance the

consistency and quality of local authonty

codes.




fpp A, ConN T:}\/ LED

There are, however, benefits to local authorities
. beihg able to amend and have ownership of
their own codes of conduct. The updated

model code should therefore be voluntary and

able to be adapted by local authorities. The
scope of the code of conduct should also
_be widened, with a rebuttable presumption

“that a coungillor's public behaviour, including ™

comments made on publicly acce83|ble SOCIal
media, is in their official capacity.

Declari.ng and managing interests
. The current arrangements for declaring and
. managing interests are unclear, too narrow and
do not meet the expectations of councillors
or the public.- The current requirements for
registering interests should be updated to
include categories of non-pecuniary interests.
The current rules on declaring and managing.
interests should be repealed and replaced

with an objective test, in line with the devolved

$tandards bodies in Scotland, Wales and
Northern Ireland.

Investigations and safeguards

Monitoring Officers have responsibility

for filtering complaints and undertaking
investigations into alleged breaches of the
code of conduct. A local authonty should
maintain a standards committee. This
committee may advise on standards issues,
decide on alleged breaches and sanctions, or
a combination of these. Independent members
of decision-making standards committees
should be able to vote.

Any standards process needs to have
safeguards in place to ensure that decisions
are made fairly and impartially, and that
councillors are protected against politically-
motivated, malicious, or unfounded allegations
of misconduct. The Independent Person is

an important safeguard in the current system.
This safeguard should be strengthened and
clarified: a local authority should only be able
to suspend a councillor where the Independent

Executive summary

Person agrees both that there has been a
breach and that suspension is a proportionate
sanction. Independent Persons should have
fixed terms and legal protections. The view

of the Independent Person in relation to a’
decision on which they are consulted should
be published in any formal decision notice.

Sanc‘ciohs

The currént sanctions available to local
authorities are insufficient. Party discipline,
whilst it has an important role to play in
maintaining high standards, lacks the

- necessary independence and transparency

to play the central role in a standards system.
The current lack of robust sanctions damages
public confidence in the standards system
and leaves local authorities with no means

-of enforcing lower level sanctions, nor of

addressing serious or repeated misconduct.

Local authorities should therefore be given

the power to suspend councillors without
allowances for up to six months. Councillors,
including parish councillors, who are
suspended should be given the right to appeal
to the Local Government Ombudsman, who
should be given the power to investigate

. allegations of code breaches on appeal.
" The decision of the Ombudsman should be

binding.

The current criminal offences relating

to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are
disproportionate in principle and ineffective in
practice, and should be abolished.

11




do :
Executive summary

Town and parish councns

Principal authorities have responSIblhty for
undertaking formal investigations of code
breaches by parish councillors. This should
remain the case. This responsibility, however,
can be a disproportionate burden for principal
authorities. Parish councils should be required
to adopt the code of their principal authority
(or.the new model code), and a principal
authority’s decision on sanctions for a parlsh
councillor should be biriding. Monitoring -
Officers should be provided with-adequate
training, corporate support and resources

to undertake their role in providing support

on standards issues to parish coundils,
including in undertaking investigations and
recommending sanctions. Clerks should also
hold an appropriate qualification to support
them to uphold governance within their parlsh
council.

Supporting officers

The Monitoring Officer is the lynchpin of the
“current standards arrangements. The role

is challenging and broad, with a number of
practical tensions and the potential for conflicts
of interest. Local authorities should put in
place arrangements to manage any potential
conflicts. We have concluded, however, that
the role is not unigue in its tensions and can
be made coherent and manageable with the
support of other statutory officers. Employment
protections for statutory officers should be
extended, and statutory officers should be
supported through training on local authority
governance. .

Councils’ corporate arrangements

At a time of rapid change in local government,
decision-making in local councils is getting
more complex, with increased commercial
activity and partnership working. This
complexity risks putting governance under
strain. Local authorities setting up separate

* bodies risk a governance ‘illusion’, and should

12

APP A conTinuen

take steps to prevent and manage potential

conflicts of interest, particularly if councillors sit
on these bodies. They should also ensure that.
these bodies are transparent and accountable
to the council and to the public.

Our analysis of a number of high-profile cases
of corporate failure in local government shows
that standards risks, where they are not
addressed, can become risks of corporate
failure. This underlines the importance of .
establishing and maintaining an ethical culture.

Leadérship and culture

An ethical culture requires leadership.

Given the multi-faceted nature of local
government, leadership is needed from a
range of individuals and groups: an authority’s
standards committee, the Chief Executive,

political group leaders, and the chair of the

council.

Political groups have an important role to play
in maintaining an-ethical culture. They should
be seen as a semi-formal institution sitting
between direct advice from officers and formal

"processes by the councll, rather than a parallel

system to the local authority’s standards
processes. Political groups should set clear
expectations of behaviour by their members,
and senior officers should maintain effective
relationships with political groups, working with
them informally to resolve standards issues

‘where approprlate

The aim of a standards éystér’n is u!timatély to

‘maintain an ethical culture and ethical practice.

An ethical culture starts with tone. Whilst

there will always be robust disagreement in a
political arena, the tone of engagement should-
be civil and constructive. Expected standards
of behaviour should be embedded through
effective induction and ongoing training.
Political groups should require their members
to attend code of conduct training provided

by a local authority, and this should also be




A(PP rAt C_o:\rrzr\tu&-?é

Executlve summary

written ihto national party model group rules.
‘Maintaining an ethical culture day-to-day relies
.on an impartial, objective Monitoring Officer
who has the confidence of all councillors and
who is profess;onally supported by the Chlef
Executlve

An ethical Culture will be an open culture.
Local authorities should: welcome and foster
opportunities for scrutiny, and see it as a way

. to improve decisionmaking. They should

" not rely unduly on commercial confidentiality

provisions, or circumvent open decision-
making processes. Whilst local press can
play an important role in scrutinising local
government, openness must be facilitated by
authorities’ own processes and practices.

13

10




Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and interests

Chapter 2:

| | A(PPG—NDLY

Codes of conduct and interests

Clear, relevant, and proportionate codes of
conduct are central to maintaining ethical
standards in public life. Codes of conduct -
were identified by the Committee as one of
the essential ‘strands’ in maintaining ethical
standards in public life in its first report in
1995, at a time when many public sector
‘organisations did not have them.

Codes of conduct play an important role
in maintaining ethical standards in an
organisation. They are not an alternative to
values and principles, but they make clear how
those values and principles should be put into
practice. They enable people to be held to
account for their actions by setting out clear
_expectations about how they should behave. -

As we stated in our 2013 report,
Standards Matter.

Organisations need their ethical principles
to be elaberated in codes which
contextualise and expand on their practical
implications. Holders of public office

can then be clear what is expected of
them, particularly in grey areas where the
application of principles may not be self-
evident.® ' S

Currently, local authorities have a statutory
duty to adopt a code of conduct which, when
" viewed as a whole, is consistent with the
Seven Principles of Public Life, and which

includes. provisions for registering and declaring

. pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests.

The intention was not that the Seven Principles

_could be treated as if a self-contained code,

but instead that the principles should be
used to underpin a well-drafted, practical and
locally-relevant guide to behaviour.

As part of our evidence-gathering, we reviewed
a sample of 20 principal authority codes of
conduct. We have also drawn on the evidence
received through our public consultation, visits
and roundtables. .

Variation, consistency, and clarity
There is considerable variation in local

“authority codes of conduct. Some of this

is straightforward variation in structure and
wording, but there is also considerable
variation in length, breadth, clarity and detail.

We heard evidence that variation between -
codes, even where the codes do not differ in
quality, is problematic. It creates confusion

" among coungillors who are simultaneously
- serving in councils at multiple tiers of local

government (for example, on both a parish

and a district council, known as ‘dual-hatting’);
particularly when requirements for declaring
and registering interests are different. It

also creates confusion among members of

the public over what is required of different
coundillors in different areas and tiers of local -
government. '

6  Committes on Standards In Public Life, Standards Matter {Cm 8519, January 2018), 4.4 '

30

11




Arer B continued

The main problem | have experienced

as Monitoring Officer. ..is the lack of
consistency across codes. .. In district
council areas, as Monitoring Officer, you
have oversight of both district and parish
council complaints. Each council can have
their own version of the code (meeting the
minimum provisions under the Loealism
Act 2011). It makes life difficult for
councillors who are ‘twin’ or ‘triple’ hatters
having to abide by different codes, and
potentially inconsistent in the advice you
can provide on each different version of a
code.’ '

Monitoring Officer, North
Hertfordshire District Council

In light of these problems, it is of little surprise

that some councils have takeh voluntary

* steps to agree mutual codes of conduct.
For example, all of the principal authotities
in Worcestershire have agreed a ‘pan-
Worcestershire’ code. This also meant that
common training could take place across

© authorities.® '

In order to ensure a consistency of
standards and expectations of both
councillors and the public (and not least
because we have a lot of dual-hatted
members), the eight principal authorities
co-operated in advance of the new regime
to create & ‘pan-Worcestershire’ Code of
Conduct which was adopted by all eight,
and we understand a majority of town and
- parish councils in the county.as well.®
Worcestershire County Council

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

In Ashford, a ‘Kent model’ code of

~ conduct and arrangements for dealing
with complaints were developed based
on the previous national code as this ’
was considered preferable to ensure

. consistency, continuity and clearly defined
expectations.™ :
Ashford Borough Gouncil

The issue of parish councils’ codes of conduct

“is closely related; we discuss this.in detail in

Qhapter B,

. Model code of c‘onduét
. A model code of conduct would create

consistency across England, and reflect the .
common expectations of the public regardless
of geography or tier. It would also reduce the
potential for confusion among dual-hatted or
triple-hatted councillors. As we discuss below,
areas such as gifts and hospitality, social -
media use, and bullying and harassment have
all increased in salience, and are not regularly -

' reflected in local authority codes of conduct. Al

local authorities need to take account of these
areas, and a model code of conduct would
help to ensure that they do so. '

Whilst the principle of localism is set to
facilitate greater local determination on

~ practices best suited to each authority,

" this may result in inconsistencies of rigour
in application of cases from one authority
to another...we recommend that model
codes of conduct be developed for use by
authorities.™ ‘ A
INLOGOV, University of Birmingham

Wiitten evidence 22 (Jeanette Thompson)

Written evidence 173 (Worcestershire County Council)
Written evidence 173 (Worcestershire County Counclly
Wiritten evidence 138 (Ashford Borough Councll)
Wiltten evidence 160 (INLOGOV)

Tzoo~

31

12




e

S

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

We recoghise that there are benefits to

councils being able to amend their own codes.

For example, a council may provide more
detail on appropriate use of social media,
relationships with officers, or conduct during
council meetings, depending on its own
culture and the specific issues it may face.
Local authorities can also revise their codes of
conduct where they find them difficult to apply
in practice, .and to learn from best practice .
elsewhere. A mandatory code set by central
government would be unlikely to be updated
regularly or amended in light of learning

© experiences. o

A council having final ownership of its code
of conduct solidifies the ownership, of ethical
standards within an authority. There are
benefits to a conversation within a council of
what high ethical standards would look like
in their own context. For example, Uttlesford

District Council told us during our visit that the.

process of rewriting their code and standards
process played a positive role in setting an .
effective ethical culture and making councillors
‘aware of the behaviour expected of them. 2

A mandatory national code would take away
‘ownership’ of ethical standards from local
authorities, since those standards would be
set centrally, from outside of local government.
The Committee commented on the national

code in place before 2000 that it had become.

something which was™[...] done to local
‘authorities; rather than done with them”.'* We
would not want to return to such a state of
affairs. :

~ We therefore consider that there should be a
national model code of conduct, but that this
should not be mandatory, and should be able
to be adapted by individual authorities.

The existing model codes available to local
councils compare unfavourably to bespoke

A—PP A CONT,

codes, with little detail on important areas
such as social media use and bullying and
harassment. Therefore, a new model code
would be needed. The updated model code
should be drafted by the Local Government - -
Association, given their significant leadership
role in the sector, in consultation with ‘
representative bodies of councillors and
officers of -all tiers of local government. The
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government should ensure that they are
given the necessary resources and support to

) undertake this work.

RecOmmendéti‘on 1: The Local
Government Association should
create an updated model code

of conduct, in consultation with
representative bodies of councillors
and officers of all tiers of local
government. ' '

Bullying and harassment

The evidence received by the Committee
suggests that most allegations of code .
breaches relate to bullying and harassment.
This is an area of ethical standards that is
much better recognised since the Committee
last undertook a review of local government.

Our code of conduct sampling found that most

codes of conduct do not cover this behaviour
effectively. Whilst most codes sampled

had a specific prohibition on bullying and
specifically prohibited intimidation in respect

~ of any allegations of wrongdoing, only two out

of twenty codes sampled included specific
behaviours that would amount to bullying,

and five had only a broad provision such as
‘showing respect for others’. Given that the
Nolan Principles are not a code of conduct, .
and so are not prohibitory in character, codes -

12 Uttlesford District Council Standards Committee, Visit to Utt[esford District Coundil, 10 September 2018
13 Committee on Standards in Public Life (2005), Getting the balance rght, Cm 86407, 3.10

{

32

13




rI‘/‘(F’P B CONTINUDED

which do not elaborate on them will lack these
provisions; although we consider that such
prohibitions rightly fall under the Nolan principle
of leadership. : .

Example of a bullying provision

Extract fromn Newcastle Gity Council code
“of conduct™

You must not bully or harass any person
(including specifically any council
employee) and you must not intimidate
or improperly influence, or attempt to
intimidate or improperly influence, any
person who is involved in any complaint
about any alleged breach of this code of
conduct.

(Note: Bullying may be characterised .

ag: offensive, intimidating, malicious -

or insulting behaviour; or an abuse or.

misuse of power in a way that intends

to undermine, humiliate, criticise unfairly

or injure semeone. Harassment may be

characterised as unwanted conduct which
+ has the purpose or effect of violating '

an individual’s dignity or creating an

intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating

or offensive environment for an individual.)

Bullying and harassment can have a
significant impact on the wellbeing of officers
and councillors who are subject to it. Such
behaviour is not acceptable in the workplace,
particularly from public office-holders with
responsibilities to show leadership.

It is also a broader standards issue, given that
individuals subject. to bullying or harassment

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

may be pressured to make decisions or act
in ways which are not in the public interest.
As'such, it is important that bullying and
harassment are dealt with effectively, and that
a local authority’s code of conduct makes .
provisions to address these matters:

Broader standards failure arising
from bullying

In several high-profile cases of standards
failures in local government, bullying
-behaviour which was not challenged or
addressed enabled other, more serious
misconduct to take place, including

the failure of scrutiny and governance
structures or financial misconduct.

The Gowling WLG report into Sandwell
Metropolitan Borough Council in 2016
considered allegations of a councillor
improperly influencing the sale and
purchase of council property and
attempting to gain favours for their family
members. '

The report found that the councillor

at the centre of allegations of financial -
impropriety had bullied and coerced a
senior housing officer over along period.

Senior officers did not take steps to
prevent the bullying from taking place,
which the report stated “[...] left a
vulnerable employee horribly exposed to
undue pressure, and, more corrosively,
perpetuated the culture within the

department of ignoring governance”.'

14

15
Metropolitan Borough Council, Avallable online at:

Newcastle City Council Code of Conduct. Avallable at: https://Awww.
democracy/how—oouncIl~works/standards-issues/part_5~2a_—_members_code_ofwconduct.pdf

Gowling WLG (2016) Report to the Chief Fxecutive, Assistant Chief Executive,
http://www.sandwe!l.gov,uk/downIoads/ﬁle/24029/gowling_wlgwreport

newcastle.gov. ﬁk/sites/default/ﬂIes/wwwﬁleroot/your~counol]—and-

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Sandwell

33

14




Fmads

.

Chapter 2: Codes bf conduct and Interests

The Committee heard from Monitoring Officers
and independent investigators that the broad
‘respect’ provision upon which many councils
rely is not suitable for dealing with allegations
of bullying and harassment. Broad provisions
are difficult to adjud'icate on with consistency,
particularly in the absence of additional, more
detailed guidelines of what the provision
entails. They also tend to give rise to further
disputes over whether behaviour is captured
by that provision.

Whilst there is no statutory definition of bullying,
the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration
Service (Acas) have codified a helpful definition:
. “offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting
behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power
through means that undermine, humiliate,
denigrate or injure the recipient”.'® ‘

Arp R conTimued

Examples of bullying behaviour include:

spreading malicious rumours, or
insulting someone by word or behaviour

copying memos that are critical about
someone to others who do not need to
know

ridiculing or demeaning someone — .
picking on them or setting them up to fail

exclusion or victimisation
unfair treatment -

overbearing supervision or other misuse

“of power or position

unwelcome sexual advances — touching, -
standing too close, display of offensive
materials, asking for sexual favours,
making decisions on the basis of sexual
advances being accepted or rejected

making threats or comments about job
security without foundation

deliberately undermining a competent
worker by overloading and constant
criticism :
preventing individuals progressing by
intentionally blecking premetion or
training opportunities?

16 Advisory, Condlliation and Arbitration Service {Acas), Bullying and harassment In the workplace: a guide for managers and employers.

Avallable online at: http://www.acas‘org.uk/media/pdf/cA/Bu[lylng-and—harassment~in—the-workplace—a—guide—for~managers~

17 Advisory, Conclliation and Arbitration Service (Acas), Bullying and harassment in the workplace: a guide for managers and employers.
Available online at: http://www.acas.org‘uk/media/pdf/c/j/Bullylng—and—h?rassment-in-the-workplace-a—guide—for—managers—and«employers.pdf

34

15

and-employers.pdf




'ﬂﬂDP R contimnued

Harassment is defined in the Equality Act
2010 as “unwanted conduct related toa
relevant protected characteristic”, which

has the purpose or effect of violating an -
individual’s dignity or “creating an intimidating,
hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive
environment” for that individual”.*®

These definitions make clear that bullying
and harassment are instances of serious
~ risconduct. By their nature they are likely

. to be persistent behaviour, rather than one-
off instances. A coundillor should not be
considered to be bullying or harassing an
officer. or another councilior simply by making
persistent enquiries or requests for information,
nor by saying something that the individual
concerned simply dislikes or with which
they disagree strongly. Genuine instances of
bullying and harassment will fall outside the
limits of legitimate free expression; but equally
accusations of such behaviour should not
be used as an attempt to'restrict legitimate
inquiries or free expression. We discuss the
enhanced protection that is afforded to political
expression and the appropriate limits of free
speech by councillors in‘more detail below.

Best practice 1: Local authorities

_ should include prohibitions on
bullying and harassment in codes
of conduct. These should include a

definition of bullying and harassment,
supplemented with a list of examples
of the sort of behaviour covered by
such a definition.

Half of the codes 'sampled by the Committee.
made reference to a separate protocol on
coungillor-officer relations. Whilst many of
these protocols focussed on the duties of

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

officers, particularly in.respect of impartiality
requirements, we did see protocols laid out -
reasonable expectations of a good working
relationship, which provides better support to
the maintenance of a good ethical culture. The
requirements of protocols can be enforced
through the formal standards process where
councils include a specific requirement to act in
accordance with the protocol in the main code
of conduct. :

Intimidation of councillors

During our review, we recelved evidence
relating to the intimidation of councillors,
which we undertook to collect as a result
of representations received from the local
government sector during our 2017 review,
Intimidation in Public Life.'® '

The evidence we received suggests that
intimidation of councillors is less widespread
than intimidation of Parliamentary candidates
and MPs, but, when it does occur, often

takes similar forms and is equally severe and
distressing. In line with our 2017 findings, it is
particularly likely to affect high-profile women in
local government.

Instances of councillors being attacked
and harassed, notably on social media,

is an increasing trend and a very serious
issue. There is anecdotal evidence from
across the country that female leaders and
counciliors are subject to more abuse than
their male counterparts.®®

Local Government Association

~ Although they do not otherwise fall within the

scope of our review, we also heard concerning
evidence of intimidation of Police and Grime
Commissioners.

18. Equality Act 2010, section 26

19 Gommittes on Standards In Public Life (2017), Intimidiation in Public Life, Cm 9543‘ .

20 Written evidence 170 (Local Government Association)

35

16




Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

On a Sunday afternoon at my home
address | was visited by a person who
over many years has been a serial
complainer about the police and my office.
The person is believed to. have mental
health issues and refused for some time
to say who she was or what she wanted.
The visit was distressing to my wife and
daughter. = ‘ '

My intimidation all related to the release
of my home address, with people calling

. ynannounced, one of the three above had
an‘injunetion against him.?

- Association of Police and Crime
Commissioners

Given the generally similar pattern of evidence
we received in relation to intimidation by

social media, we consider that our 2017
recommendations, where iImplemented,
should help to address the intimidation of local
coundillors. | '

One aspect in which the intimidation of
councillors is distinct from that of MPs and
Parliamentary candidates is in relation to
home addresses. Unlike MPs and candidates,
councillors’ addresses are often public, for
example, on a coungil website or on a register
" of interests. The nature of local democracy
means that those who are likely to engage

in intimidation of a councillor are likely to live .
nearby. We heard of cases of coungillors
being confronted in public whilst in a private
capacity, for example, whilst with their family
or shopping. Whilst this may not always be
intimidatory as such, we heard that councillors
are highly aware that they have a high profile in
their immediate local area, and so the fear of
physical intimidation is much greater. The fact
that individuals’ home addresses dre public

A“PP - CONTINUED

can also make any threats made through

~electronic means, such as social media, more

distressing.

We therefore welcome the government’s
commitment to bring forward secondary
legislation to implement our 2017
recommendation that the requirement for -
candidates standing as local councillors to
have their home addresses published on the
ballot paper should be removed.

In Intimidation in Public Life, we recommended
that Monitoring Officers draw councillors’
attention to the sensitive interest provisions

in the Localism Act 2011, that permit the
non-disclosure of detalls in the register of
interests where the member and Monitoring
Officer agree that their disclosure could lead
to violence or intimidation.?2 We received
evidence, however, that often these provisions
would only be invoked after a councillor had
experienced intimidation or harassment, in
which case their address was already publicly-
available. ' .

Given the experience of intimidation by too
many in public life, we do not believe it is
justifiable to require any candidate standing
for or taking public office to make their home
address public, whether on a ballot paper or
a register of interests. The general principle
should be that an individual’s home address
should be kept confidential and not disclosed
publicly or beyond the necessary officials
without the individual’s consent.

Some authorities have a blanket policy that
home addresses will be recorded on the
register of interests but omitted from the .
published version.

21  Written evidence 807 {Assoclation of Police and Crime Commissioners)
59 Committee on Standards in Public Life (2017), Intimidation in Public Life, Cm 9543, 62

36

17




/A(PP ReconTiNUvED

Example of local authority policy on
home addresses

In accerdance with the arrangements

for the placing of Register of Interests on
the City Council’s website agreed by the
Standards Committee details of members’
home addresses will be omitted from the
version placed on the website.”®

Clty of Westminster, Guidance note to
members on Register of Interests.

The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 should
be amended to make clear that the ‘land’
category does not require a coungcillor to
register their home address.

, Recommenda’uon _
' ‘should ensure that c ndldates

| 'Pecumary Interests) Regula ns, 2012 .
should be amended to clarify: thata

. councillor does not need to register

. their home address on an authorlty’s

, “reglster of "nterests .

D: 1 he government .

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

Scope of the code of conduct

" At the moment, codes of conduct can only

apply to local councillors when they are acting
in their capacity as a councillor.?* This means
that in practice a councillor cannot breach '

a code of conduct by, or be sanctioned for,
objectionable behaviour in a private context (for
example, the way they conduct themselves in
a private dispute with a neighbour).

Numerous complaints are made about
councillors’ conduct on social media or
at events, which in some cases are well-
founded. However, if the councillor is
not acting in their official capacity then
Monitoring Officers are limited in their
ability to deal with such conduct. This
undermines the public confidence in the
standards regime as the public expect
higher standards of conduct from thetr
‘elected representatives.? 4
Lawyers in Local Government

Our evidence suggests that the current narrow
scope of the code of conduct makes it difficult
to effectively deal with some instances of -
poor behaviour, particularly in relation to soolal
media use. .

The ‘question of public and private capacity
raises significant questions about the privileges
and responsibilities of representatives.
Demoecratic representatives need to have their
right to free speech and expression protected
and not unduly restricted; but equally the
public interest demands that they meet certain
responsibilities in that role. -

23 City of Westminster, Guidance note to members on Register of Interests. Avallable online at: hitps: /W,

members-interests
24 Localism Act 2011, section 27(2): *.

westminster. gov uk/register-

« . a relevant authority must, in part!cular, adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of

mermbers and co-opted members of the authority when they are acting in that capacily”

05 Wiitten evidence 228 (Lawyers In Local Government)

37

18



Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and interests

Some public sector codes of conduct cover
behaviour which could purport to be in a
personal capacity, but which would inevitably
bear on the individual’s public role. For
example, government ministers are prohibited
from acting as patrons of certain organisations
or nominating individuals for awards; even -

if this would purport to be in their personal
Capacity.26

: ThlS suggests to us that the question is not
whether behaviour in a personal capacity can
impact on an mdlvxduals public role, but when
it-does so.

We took evidence from the standards bodies in
Northern lreland, Scotland and Wales in order
to consider their approaches to this issue. -

The devolved standards bodies take one of
two approaches: either restricting the scope
of the code to apply only when a councillor

is acting in an official capacity {(Scotland),

or allowing that & councillor may engage in
behaviour in a purely private capacity, which is

serious enough to bring their office or authority:

into disrepute (Wales and Northern Ireland).

In Scotland, theé code of conduct only applies
to councillors where a member of the public

. would reasonably consider that the member
was acting in their capacity as a councillor. *
Factors such as whether the behaviour took
place on council property, or through a social
media account identifying the individual as

a councillor, would be taken into account in
deciding whether the code of conduct applied.
Even if the councillor behaved in a seriously
inappropriate way, the code'would not apply if
there was no suggestion that they were acting
as a councillor when they did so. ‘

/AODP B conTi N LED

In Northern Ireland, four provisions of the
code of conduct explicitly apply to councillors

- in all circumstances, not just when they are

carrying out their role as a councillor, including
a provision not to bring the office of councillor
into disrepute.

In Wales, the code of conduct applies both
when a councillor is acting in their official -
capacity (including if they claim to act or give
the impression that they are acting in that

" capacity), and when a councillor behaves in a

way that could “[...] reasonably be regarded
as bringing [their] office or [their] authority
into disrepute”.?” This includes any timeé a

councillor attempts to use their position to

gain advantages (or to avoid disadvantages)
for themselves or others, or misuses their local
authority’s resources. The Welsh Ombudsman
has alsoissued guidance of the application of
the code of conduct to social media use.

Public Service Ombudsman for Wales
social media guidance

“If you refer to yourself as coungillor, the
code will apply to you. This applies in
conversation, in writing, or in your use

of electronic media. There has been

a significant rise in complaints to me-
concerning the use of Facebook, blogs
and -Twitter. If you refer to your role as -
councillor in any way or comments you
make are clearly related to your role then
the code will apply to any comments you
make there. Even if you do not refer to
your role as councillor, your comments
may have the effect of bringing your office
or authority into disrepute and could '
therefore breach paragraph 6(1)(a) of the
code,”®

26 Minlsterial Code, paras 7.13, 7.18

27 The Local Authorities (Mode! Code of Conduct) (Wales) Order 2008, Schedule, section 2(c) . . ;
28  Public Service Ombudsman for Wales (2016), The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: GUIdance from the Public ‘

Services Ombudsman for Wales. Available online at: https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Code-of-Conduct-CC-

CBC-NPA-August-20186.pdf

38

19




){_]('PP @ C.oN'T‘( ~N LED

. The widespread use of social media presents
a particular challenge to determining whether
a code of conduct applies to instances of
behaviour. In line with the guidance provided in
Wales, it is clear to us that when a social media
account identifies the individual as a councillor
or an individual makes comments related to
their role as a coundillor, then the code of
conduct applies. This would be the case even
if the individual posts a ‘disclaimer’ to suggest
that the account is a personal one.

However, a number of recent cases also
suggest to us that high standards are expected
of public office holders in their use of social

. media, even when this purports to be in a
personal capacity. What is relevant is not just
whether an individual is acting in a official
capacity or a personal capacity, but also
whether the behaviour itself is in public or in
private. Restrictions on what an individual may
do or say in public are different in kind from
restrictions on an individual’s private life.

There is a need to balance the rights and -
responsibilities of democratic representatives.
The sort of public behaviour that'is relevant
to a public office and its code of conduct”
therefore depends on the scope and nature of
the public role in question: the requirements
_for civil servants will rightly be different to
the requirements for teachers, for example.
Roles representing the public, such as MPs or
councillors, have particular privileges that need
to be protected, but also need to acknowledge
a greater responsibility, given the scope and
public visibility of the role.

Inevitably, councillors carry their council ‘label’
to some extent in their public behaviour. What.
counts as relevant public behaviour for the
purpose of the councillor code of conduct
should therefore be drawn more broadly.

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and interests

An individual’s private life — that is, private
behaviour in a personal capacity — should
rightly remain out of scope. This includes, for
example, what is said in private conversations
(where those conversations are hot in an ‘
official capacity), private disputes and personal
relationships. But those in high-profile -
representative roles, including councillors,
should consider that their behaviour in public is
rightly under public scrutiny and should adhere
to the Seven Principles of Public Life. This
includes any comments or statements in print,
and those made whilst speaking in public or on
publicly accessible social media sites.

This does not, however, mean that councillors '
should be censured just because an individual
dislikes or disagrees with what they say;
standards in public life do not extend to .
adjudicating on matters of political debate.
Controversial issues must be able to be raised
in the public sphere, and coundillors should
have their right to form and hold opinions
respected. ECHR Avrticle 10 rights to freedom
of expression must be respected by councils
when adjudicating on potential misconduct,
taking into account thé enhanced protection
afforded to political expression.

39

20



Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

Article 10: Rights to freedom of
expression

Article 10 of the European Convention

on Human Rights states that “everyone
has the right to freedom of expression”,
although this right is not absolute, and is
subject to “such formalities, conditions,
restrictions and penalties as are prescribed
by law and are necessary in a democratic
society...for the protection of the rights
and interests of others”. % '

The High Court, in Heesom v Public
Service Ombudsman for Wales,®
considered the application of Article 10
-to local councillors, taking into account-
judgments by the European Court of
Human Rights. ‘ :

It found that “Article 10 protects not only
the substance of what is said, but also the
form in which it is conveyed. Therefore,

in the political context, a degree of the

exaggerated, provocative, polemical,. -
colourful, emotive, non-rational and
aggressive, that would not be aceeéptable
outside that context, is tolerated.”

1t added that peliticians, including councillors,
have “enhanced protection as to what they
| say in the political arena” but by the same

. token are “expected and required to have
thicker skins and have more tolerance to
comment than ordinary citizens”.

A councillor’s Article 10 rights extend to “all
matters of public administration and public

- concern including comments about the
adequacy or inadequacy of performance of
public duties by others” but do not extend
to “gratuitous personal comments”,

immoderate, offensive, shocking, disturbing,

/](PP R conTinuveD

We do not consider that the approach taken
by Wales and Northern Ireland, in extending
the code of conduct to any behaviour that

is sufficiently serious as to bring the office -

of councillor or the council into disrepute,
could easily be replicated in England. Broad
provisions are likely to create disputes about
what falls within their scope, particularly when
there is not a central authoritative body to rule
on those provisions and disseminate previous
cases.

We therefore propose that, given thelr .
significant representative role, there should be
a rebuttable presumption that a councillor's

‘behaviour in public is in an official capacity. An

individual’s behaviour in private, in a personal
capacity, should remain outside the scope of -
the code. '

Recommendation 3: Councillors
should be presumed to be acting in.
_an officlal capacity in their public
conduct, including statements on
publicly accessible social media.

- Section 27(2) of the Localism Act
2011 should be amended to permit
local authorities to presume so when
deciding upon code of conduct
breaches. : . -

Purporting to act as a member or a
representative

The 2007 model code for local government
stated that its scope included not just when a
councillor was “conducting the business of the
authority”, but also if a councillor was to “act,
claim to act or give the impression you are
acting as a représentative of your authority”.®!
The Localism Act 2011 does not include this

qualification. As a result, some cases where

29 European Court of Human Rights and Councll of Europe, European Convention on Human Rights, Article 10
30 Heesom v Public Service Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC 1504 (Admin)

31 The Local Authoritles (Mode! Code of Conduct) Order 2007

40

21




App B conTimnueD

an-individual is improperly purporting to act as
a councillor do not fall within the scope of the
code, even though the councillor in question
would clearly be misusing their office. For
example, a councillor may threaten to cause
someone a detriment by implying they would
.do so through their influence as a councillor.

The issue [of public and private capacity]
needs to be looked at more in the round,
including serious matters which do not
‘lead to a criminal conviction or where

a councillor, though not actingasa -
councillor, has purported to misuse his or
her office through threats of the ‘don’t you
know whao | am’ variety.®

Hoey Ainscough Associates

MC v Standards Committee of LB Richmond®®
drew a distinction between a member
purporting to act as a member and purporting
to act as a representative of the local authority,
stating that one would not necessarily imply

- the other. Both of these seem to us to be

sufficient conditions for the code of conduct to

apply to an individual. Given this established
_case law, any change to the current legislation
governing codes of conduct should molude
both conditions. :

Recommendation 4: Section 27(2)

of the Localism Act 2011 should

be amended to state thatalocal
authority’s code of conduct applies to

. a member when: they claim to act, or

, ‘glve the |mpressmn they are. actmg, :
in their capaclty asa member orasa
representatlve of the local authority.

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

Compliance with standards processes

Complying with standards investigations, and
not seeking to misuse the standards process,
is an important aspect of ethical conduct.

This is for three reasons. First, there is a
strong public interest in an effective standards
process that is not 'subject to disruption or
abuse. Secondly, councillors should seek to
maintain an ethical culture in their authority, and
showing appropriate respect for the process
contributes to this. Thirdly, non-compliance
and misuse wastes pubho money and the time
of officers. :

Councillors should not éeek to disrupt

.standards investigations by, for example,

not responding 1o requests for information,
clarification or comment in a timely way, or
refusing to confirm their attendance at a
standards hearing. Nor should councillors seek
to misuse the standards process, for example,
by making allegations against another

~ coungillor for the purposes of political gain.

Best practice 2: Councils should
_include provisions in their code of
. conduct requiring councillors to

_comply with any formal standards
investigation, and prohibiting trivial or
malicious allegations by councillors..

4 Writing codes of conduct
The Committee has previously outlined criteria -

for an effective code of conduct:

e seen as relevant every day and not
exceptional

e proportionate — giving enough detail to
guide actions without being so elaborate
that people lose sight of the underlying
principle

32 Written evidence 212 (Hoey Ainscough Associates)

33 MC v Standards Commitiee of LB Richmond [2011] UKUT 232 (AAC) (14 June 2011)

41

22



L APP% CONTINLED

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

o adapted to the needs and context of each A failure to create or adopt a substantive code.
" organisation means that the potential benefits of devolved

. ' standards are not being realised.
e clear about the consequences of not g realls

complying with the code, both for the
individual and-others

Many authorities have not yet revisited
their codes in the light of learning
, . experiences.®” -
We have seen evidence that some councils Johathan Goolden,
_ have adopted a minimal code of conduct Wilkin Chapman LLP -
which amounts to a restatement of the' Seven - :
Principles of Public Life. We were concerned \ L
to note that DCLG's illustrative code would fall e
into this category.® The Seven Principles of _ Best practice 3: Principal authorities
Public Life are not a code of conduct: codes of | eIt e k=N TA - LeteroJe S o) feloTale Vet
conduct specify what the e Uil cach year and regularly seek, where '
a specific context in order to guide behaviour. possible, the views of the public,
Using principles, rather than rules, in a code of Bt il lt11AY organisations and
conduct can also lead fo wpliceicelielnca Ml neighbouring authorities.
about what sort of behaviour falls under a .. , '
particular principle in the absence of specific ‘ : ,
guidance. Codes of conduct should be written in plain
' English and be accessible for councillors and '
members of the public. They cannot be written

o wherever possible, framed 'po.sitive!y“

In terms of codes, as an investigator | to cover every eventuality, and attempts to do
encounter a variety of codes. They tend - so may actually make codes less effective.

to fall into some broad families, ranging They should therefore not be ‘legalistic’ in tone,
from those authorities that adopted the or overly technical in style. '
previous statutory code almost unchanged

at one end to the extreme otherend of A code of conduct is not a values or vision
the spectrum, which is only the Nolan statement for an organisation. It therefore
Principles. That is the whole code. We needs to state clearly what is required of
have great difficulty in working with ‘Nolan-  coundillors rather than an aspiration or aim.
only" codes.® - . Often this will mean phrasing requirements in
Jonathan Goolden, . ' terms of what councillors ‘must not’ do. .

Wilkin Chapman LLP o
: ~ The requirements should also be enforceable:
codes should not include provisions such as
. Drawing up a code is an important process for - ‘councillors must be aware of...".
an authority: it involves the members of that
authority considering what the Seven Principles
of Public Life demand in their own context.

34 Committee on Standards in Public Life, Standards Matter (Cm 8519, January 2018), 4.9

35 DCLG (2016), Hustrative Text for Local Government Code of Conduct. Avallable online at:
https://www.gov.uk/govemment/publloations/lllustrative-text—for—looal—code-of~conduot~~2

36 Jonathan Goolden, Roundtable, 18 April 2018

37 Jonathan Goolden, Roundtable, 18 April 2018

. -
- ‘ 23




pVPP B conNTINULED

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and interests

Where detailed provisions or guidance are = - Codes of conduct are central to upholding high
required (for example, guidance about social standards in public life. They should not be
media, or guidance on officer-member . inaccessible on a local authority’s website, or
relations) these should ideally be kept in a as an annex to an authority’s constitution.

. separate document.

_ Best practice 4: An authority’s code

Example of a'clear code of conduct ll should be readily accessible to
| _ both councillors and the public,in
Extract from Plymouth City Council code __a prominent position on a council’s
of conduct® | _ . _ website and available in council
‘ ‘ premises. -
Disrepute S
Councillors must not act in a manner
which could be seen to bring the ceuneil Councillors’ interests
or the role of councilior into disrepute. The Nolan principle of integrity is based upon
' o protecting the public interest. Where there
Misuse of position " is undue influence on a public office-holder,
Goungillors must not try to use their including through conflicts of interest, this can
position improperly to gain an advantage- lead to decisions which are not made in the
or disadvantage for themselves or others. public interest.
Use of council resources :
When councillors use the council's Integrity: Holders of public office must
resources or let other people use them, avoid placing themselves under obligation
they must follow any reasonable rules 1o peop!e or Organisaﬂons that might
set by the council and make sure that try inappropriately to influence them in
resources are not used improperly for their work. They should not act or take
political purposes (including party political decisions in order to gain financial or other
purposes). - material benefits for themselves, their
: family, or their friends. They must declare
Advice of Monitoring Officer and and resolve any interests and relationships.
Responsible Finance Officer ) .
Gouncillers must consider any advice j
given by the Monitoring Officer or : A system for managing conflicts of interest
Responsible Finance Officer when taking should distinguish between the requirements for
decisions. . registering interests and declaring or managing
' ' interests. Not all interests that are registered
Giving reasons for decisions ' would necessarily present a conflict such that
Coungcillors must give reasons when they would need to be managed. Equally, a
required to by the law or by any council councillor may have a very specific conflict of
procedures. interest in relation to a matter, which it would
be disproportionate to register given the

improbability of that conflict arising in the future.

38 Avallable online at: https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/ﬂles/Code%QOof%ZOConduct%ZOand%20Rules%200f%20Debate.pdf

43

24




Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

AP

The purpose of a registér of interests is to
make transparent an individual’s financial

-and non-financial interests and relationships
that are the most likely to lead to a potential
conflict, This includes for example, paid

" employment, significant investments,
trusteeships, and directorships. This enables

. an individual to be held to account for the way

in which they manage these interests where

necessary. ' :

An interest needs to be managed.only where

it is reasonable to suppose that an individual's
participation in a discussion or decision could
be unduly influenced by a particular relationship
or personal interest.

How an interest should be managed depends
on three factors: the degree of involvement
of the individual in the decision or discussion;
how directly related.the interest or relationship
is fo the decision or discussion in question;
and how significant the interest or relationship -
is to the individual. Where these factors are.
minor, then simply declaring the interest may
be sufficient. Where the factors are significant,
an individual should recuse themselves from
the discussion and decision; and should leave
‘the room in the most serious cases.

Where the arrangements necessary to manage .

- an interest or relationship prevent the individual
- properly from discharging their role (for
example, if restrictive arrangements would very
regularly have to be put in place), then either
the interest should be disposed of or the role
relinquished.

44

Ape B conTimnuED

The Dlsclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI)
arrangements :

The evidence we have received is that the:
current Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

(DP) arrangements are not working: the
requirements for declaring and managing :
interests are too narrow; they are unclear both
to councillors and the public; and they do not
require the registration of important interests
such as unpaid directorships and gifts and

hospitality.

Strengthening and clarifying the system for
declaring and managing interests is all the
more important in light of increasingly complex
decision-making in local government. To
ensure and to demonstrate openly that the

" principle of integrity is being upheld, it is

important to have comprehensive and robust
arrangements in place for managing potent;al
conflicts of interest.

We appreciate that the DP! requirements as
set down in the Localism Act 2011 and in the
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary .
Interests) Regulations 2012 are drafted in such
a way that a breach of those requirements
constitutes a criminal offence. However, as we
explain in chapter 4, we have concluded that
the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011
are not fit for purpose and we recommend that
they should be repealed. Our conclusions and
recommendations in this section therefore do
not take these offences into account.

25




kep B

CONTINOTD

'Reglsterlng interests

The requirements for a register of mterests
should be based on the principle we lay out
above, that the purpose of a register is to make
transparent those interests and relationships
which would be most likely to lead to a conflict
of interest.

Currently, local authorities are required by law
only to make arrangements for registering and
declaring pecuniary interests of a councillor
end their spouse or partner. ‘

The current list containg manifest
omissions such as hospitality deriving from
a councillor’s position, unpaid employment
(including directorships), interest in land
outside of a council’s area, pecuniary
interests of close family members who are
not spouses, and memberships of [obby

or campaign groups.®

Cornerstone Barrlsters

We received evidence from a number of legal
practitioners and local authorities to suggest
that the current list of interests required to be
registered is drawn too narrowly.

The narrow requirements of the current

law are partly a result of the DPI regime not

distinguishing between requirements for ‘

registering interests on the one hand, and for
“declaring and'managing interests on the other,

which we address below.

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and interests

Pecunlary interests

Currently, councillors must register their and
their spouse or partner’s pecuniary interests
within the following categories:

» employment, office, trade, profession or
vocation carried on for profit or gain

e gponsorship towards election expenses
or expenses incurred in carrying out

duties as a member .

e contracts between the authority and

the individual, or a body in which the
individual has a beneficial interest

- e land in the local authori’ty’s area

» securities where the firm has land or a
place of business in the local authority’s
area, and the holding is worth more than
£25,000 or the individual holds more
than 1% of share capital

* licences to occupy Iand in the Iocal
authority

« corporate tenancies where the landlord
is the local authority

Based on the evidence we received, the
current list of pecuniary interests required to be
registered.is satisfactory,

Non-pecuniary interests

Local authorities are not required by law to
include specific non-pecuniary interests on
their register of interests, although many do
so. The Committee’s sampling of codes of
conduct found most codes had a provision
on registering and declaring non-pecuniary
interests, although there was some variation in
what was required. Four codes out of twenty
had no provisions relating to- non-pecuniary
interests. Some had a broad provision of

39 Whitten evidence 281 (Cornerstone Barristers)

45

26




Cljapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

declaring when a matter might affect a
councillor more than the majority of people

in the affected area. One authority required
councillors only to declare if they were a
member of a trade union. Most opted for a
form of words that included any management
roles in a charity, a body of a ‘public nature’,

or an organisation seeking to influence opinion
or public policy. Some codes created a
category of personal interests or other interests
(some of which pecuniary) which, whilst not
registrable, should be declared under certain
circumstances. |

" Where councils only comply with
the disclosable pecuniary interest
requirements and a code of conduct that
does little more than ecomply with the
Nolan Principles, it was felt that the regime
was too fight touch to maintain publlc
confidence.®

. Mid Sussex District Councﬂ

The purpose of a register is to make
transparent those interests and relationships.
which would be most likely to lead to a conflict
of interest. Based on this principle, two
additional categories of interests should be
required to be included in a local authority’s
register of interests. First, relevant commercial
interests of a councillor and théir spouse or
partner which may be unpaid — for example,
an unpaid directorship (even if non-executive).
Secondly, relevant non-pecuniary interests ofa
counaillor and their spouse or partner such as -
trusteeships or membership of organisations
that seek to influence opinion or public policy.

'-,AcPP B conTiNULED

As members increasingly become involved
in voluntary and third sector bodies, the
issue of conflicts is more prominent and it
is not a matter in respect of which there is
adequate provision in the code of conduct
[...] although there are some provisions
within the Localism Act in relation to.
predetermination it is not considered that
it is adequately dealt with in the ethics
context beyond DPls.*!

London Borough of Croydon

At alocal level, it is perhaps even more likely
that non-pecuniary interests — for example,

‘being an unpaid trustee of a local sports club

— would lead to a conflict of interest than a
councillor's ordinary paid employment. As the
Monitoring Officer of Camden Coungil stated in
evidence to us: “[...] we expect that the public
would consider that a member who was a
long-serving unpaid trustee of a charity may
not be able t¢ consider a potential grant award
by the council to the charity entirely fairly and
objectively”.#

As we explain in more detail below, the test for’
whether a councillor should have to register an
interest should nevertheless be separate from
the test for whether a councillor should have to
withdraw from a discussion or vote. Under our
recommendations, everi if a-councillor would
have to register an interest for the sake of
transparency, they would not have to withdraw
from a discussion or vote unless there was a

. conflict of interest, based on the ‘objective test’

in recommendation 7 below.

40 Written evidence 50 (Mid Sussex District Councll
41  Written evidence 166 (London Borough of Croydon)
42 Written ewdence 151 (Andrew Maughan, Camden Councl)

46

27




APp B contimuEn

| Recommendation 5: The Relevan
. Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary.
N ;jlnterests) Regulations. 2012 shouldfr
. ‘be amended to include: unpald
eCtorshlps, trusteeships;

- ‘management rolesina charlty‘
',,,or a body of a public nature;and
'membershlp of any orgamsatlons that
. seekto mﬂuence opmlon or publlc
- pollcy

Gifts and hospitality

Currently, there is no legal requirement for Iooal
authorities to maintain a gifts and hospitality

register, nor for individual coungillors to register .

or declare gifts and hospitality they receive as
part of thHeir role.

Most codes sampled by the Commlttee
required councillors to register gifts and
hospitality in some way. Six out of twenty

of the codes sampled had no provision for
this. Among codes providing for a gifts and
hospitality register, there was variation in the
value threshold, which was variously set at
£25, £50, or £100: Gifts and hospitality were
also treated in a number of different ways:
some codes established a straightforward
register, some-stated that gifts or hospitality
were an ‘other interest’ which should be
registered alongside non-pecuniary interests,
and others defined the giver of a gift or
hospitality over a certain value effectively as
an ‘associate’ of the councillor, whose interest
should be declared if a matter would affect
them.

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and interests

In London, we found £79,000 had been
spent by more than 20Q developers,
lobbyists and others involved in the
property industry on 723 lunches, dinners
and all-expenses paid trips for 106
councillors:#®

Transparency International UK

The Committee has seen evidence that the
accessibility and timeliness of local authorities’
registers of interest varies widely. Many are
reported in a non-standard format, and some
registers are not updated for long periods.
Independent oversight and inspection is
important to maintaining high ethical standards,
and local authorities should facilitate this by
ensuring that their registers are accessible to
those who would wish to inspect them

We are also concerned about the use of high
thresholds for- reporting gifts and hospitality even
where registers exist. Ari individual threshold

. of £100 could allow a councillor to accept

S|gn1flcant gifts and hospitality from a single

-source on multiple occasions, without needing

to register the fact that they have done so. £560
is the registration threshold for gifts or donations
during election campaigns, which would then
provide a consistent declaration threshold both
during and outside election periods.*

Recommendation 6: Local authorities
should be required to establish a
reglster of gifts and hospitality, with

. councillors required to record any

gifts and hospitality received over a -
- value of £50, or totalling £100 over
| ayear from a single source. This
_ requirement should be included in an
- updated model code of conduct.

" 43 Written evidence 315 (T ransparency lntematlonal UK)

44  Available online at: http://www.electoralcommission.org, uk/. ! data/assets/pdf_file/0005/141773/ca-part-3-locals-ew.pdf, 20

47

28




Chapter 2; Codes of conduct and Interests

_ Best practice 5: Local autl .
. should update their gifts and

_ hospitality register at least once per
quarter, and publish it in an accessible
_ format, such as CSV. .

We are aware of helpful guidance from the
Cabinet Office for civil servants on the broader
principles surrounding gifts and hospitality.
They propose three principles that should
guide whether an individual should accept gifts
or hospitality:- ' '

Cabinet Office principles for accepting
gifts or hospitality

» Purpose — acceptance should be in the
interests of departments and should
further ngernment objectives.

be over-frequent or over-generous.
Accepting hospitality frequently from
the sarne organisation may lead to
animpression that the organisation
is gaining influence. Similarly,
hospitality should not seem lavish or
disproportionate to the nature of the
‘relationship with the provider.

e (Avoidance of) conflict of interest —
officials should consider the provider’s
relationship with the department,
whether it is bidding for work or grants
or being investigated or criticised, and
whether it is appropriate to accept
an offer from a taxpayer-funded
organisation.*

» Proportionality — hospitality should not

| ,AQDP B conTtiNnoLED

The principles of proportionality and avoiding
conflicts of interest are patticularly important to
safeguard the principle of integrity.

The Committee has considered the issue
of gifts and hospitality offered by lobbyists
in particular, in its report Strengthening

transparency around lobbying. We concluded
that public officer holders accepting significant
gifts and hospitality “[...} risks creating a conflict
of interest by placing them under an obligation
to a third party, which may affect them in their
work including when they take decisions,
whichis relevant to the Nolan principle of
integrity”. 4 ‘

. In February 2018, it was reported in the
press that the chairman of Westminster
City Couneil planning committee received
gifts and hospitality 514 times in three
years, worth at least at a total of £13,000.
The councillor subsequently stood down
following an internal inquiry.

. The evidence we have received suggests that

acceptance of gifts and hospitality is of most
concern when it comes to planning. Planning

" is an area of decision-making where a small
“number of councillors can have a significant

impact on the financial interests of specific
individuals or firms. Councillors involved in
planning decisions should therefore generally
not accept over-frequent or over-generous

' hospitality and should always ensure that

acceptance of such hospitality does not
constitute a Qonﬂict of interest.

45 Cabinet Office (2010), Guidance on civil servants recelving hospitality. Avallable online at:

https://www.gov.uI</govemment/publications/guidance—on—civiI—servants—receiving—hospltallty
46 Committee on Standards in Public Life (201 3), Strengthening transparency around lobbying, 3.18

48 ' 29



/A(PP B conTinuED

Partner and family interests

Under the DPI arrangements, any relevant
pecuniary interests of a-councillor’s spouse
or partner are considered as a DPI of the
councillor. '

We heard concerns during the review that.the
DPI arrangements infringe on the privacy of a
councillor's spouse or partner. We recognise
these concerns, though note that, where there
would be a potential conflict of interest, the
principle of integrity requires that any such
interests should nevertheless be declared and

- resolved. ’

Under the Localism Act 2011; however, -

- councils are not required to register spouse or
partner interests separately from those of the
councillor, although many do so. The DCLG .
guidance on DPIs states that: “[...] for the
purposes of the register, an interest of your
spouse or-civil partner, which is listed in the
national rules, is your disclosable pecuniary
interest. Whilst the detailed format of the
register of members’ interests is for your
council.to decide, there is no requirement

to differentiate your disclosable pecuniary
interests between those which relate to you

, personally and those that relate to your spouse
or civil partner.”

Declaring and managing interests

The evidence we received suggests that the
DPI requirements for declaring and managing
interests are currently unclear. The current
wording in the Localism Act 2011 requires
that a councillor must not participate in a
discussion or vote in a matter (or take any
further steps in relation to it) where they are
present at a meeting and they have “[..] a
disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter
to be considered, or being considered, at the
meeting”. The test of having a ‘disclosable

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and interests

pecuniary interest in any matter’ is ambiguous,
as strictly speaking under the Act a councillor’s

DPI is the employment, land, or investment

(for example) itself. The Act does not specify
how closely related an interest must be to the

~ matter under consideration to count as an

interest ‘i’ that matter. Recent case law has
not settled this issue decisively, which means
that there is little authoritative guidance for
councillors or those who advise them.

Despite the regulations and DCLG
guidance, there is still a dispute regarding
what would be a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest — for example, in situations where
the interest is the subject of the meeting
or affected by the decision — such as in
planning applications. This can make
declarations of interests problematic.*®
North Hertfordshire District Council -

The fundamental problem is in the wording -
- of the Localism Act which requires
“members to declare interests (and not

participate at meetings) when they have

a DP!I ‘in any matter to be considered

at a meeting’. Under the former regime,

the situation was much clearer as an

interest arose where where a matter under

consideration ‘relates to or is likely to .

affect’ the interest, thus creating a nexus

between the item of business and the
incidence of interest. This nexus is absent
from the Localism Act regime and it
creates significant uncertainty as to when
a DP| exists in certain situations.*?
Ashford Borough Council

47 Department for Communities and Local Government (2013), Openness and transparency on personal interests: A gulde for counclliors

48 Written evidence 22 (North Hertfordshire District Councl)
49 Written evidence 138 (Ashford Borough Councl)

49

30



Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and Interests

The current declaratjon and withdrawal
requwements are also too narrow. Currently, &
councillor would not need-to declare an interest
or recuse themselves where a close family
member was affected by a decision, nor a

close associate (whether a personal friend or a -

‘business associate). This should be addressed
by a more demanding test for declaring and
managing interests, separately to reglstratlon
requ1rements :

We have seen that the standards
arrangements in Scotland, Wales and Northern
Ireland usually rely upon an ‘objective test’ for
determining whether an interest needs actively
to be managed (for example, the individual
recusing themselves). . ‘

ACIDP R Co;\sfz NOED

Tests for actively managing interests
ir the devolved codes

Scotland
“Whether a member of the public, wrth
- knowledge of the relevant facts, would
reasonably regard the interest as so
significant that it is likely to prejudice your
. discussion or decision making in your role
as a councillor.”°

Wales

“I...] if the interest is one which a member
of the public with knowledge of the
relevant facts would reasonably regard as
so significant that it is likely to prejudice
your judgement of the public interest,"s!

Northern Ireland

“An interest will be considered significant
where you anticipate. that a decision on-
the matter might reasonably be expected
to benefit or disadvantage yourself to

a greater extent that a other council
constituents.”?

(Councillors must also declare any
registered interest in a matter under
consideration.)

We propose the introduction of an objective
test, in line with practice in Wales and
Scotland, for whether a councillor should
recuse themselves from a discussion or vote.
We heard from the Standards Commission for
Scotland and the Public Service Ombudsman
for Wales that this test works well in practice.
We note that a practical division between

the requirements for registering interests and
managing interests, with an objegtive test

for the latter, is in line with the categories of
personal and prejudicial interests under the

50 Scotland Cods of Conduct for Coungillors, para 5.3

51 The Local Authoritles (Model Code of Conduct) (Wales) Order 2008, Schedule, section 12
52 Northern Ireland Local Government Code of Gonduct for Councilllors, para 6.3

50

31




'MP > ‘@:\rrwugh

Chapter 2: Codes of conduct and inferests

| ocal Government Act 2000. We heard that
officers and councillors generally considered
these to be clearer and easier to understand
than the DPI arrangements.

In line with the principles we set out for N
declaring and managing interests above,
councillors should declare an interest where an
interest in their register relates to a matter they

- are due to discuss or decide upon, but they
do not need to recuse themselves unless the
objective test is met.

We note that section 25 of the Localism Act
2011, which draws a firm distinction between .
_predisposition and predetermination, is relevant

to the participation of councillors in certain
decisions or votes. A councillor should not be
considered to have a significant interest in a
miatter, and therefore have to withdraw from

a discussion or,vote, just by virtue of having
previously expressed a prior view, even a
strong view, on the matter in question. This
includes if they are,.for example, a member of
a relevant campaigning group for that purpose.

' Recommendatmn 7: Sectmn 31 of the

Localism Act 2011 should be repealed,

_ and replaced with a requirement

_ that councils include in their code of
conduct that a councillor mustnot
partlclpate in a discussion or vote ina
matter to be considered at a meeting.

_if they have any interest, whether
registered or not, “if a member of the
public, with knowledge of the relevant
facts, would reasonably’ regard ‘the
interest as so 5|gn|f|cant thatitis
likely to prejudice your discussion or.
decision-making in relation to that
matter”.

51

32



Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

Chapter 3: | -
Investigations and safeguards

Investigations : . , ‘

An authority must have an effective, fair, impartial, and transparent complaints and investigation
procedure, in which both councillors and the public can have confidence. Sanctions should be
imposed in a consistent way, and only where there is a genuine breach.

The current investigation process

Recelving allegations

h.d

Informal investigation

A

| Asl,sessing' and ﬂlfering allégations. 4

'lnde'pende'nt Person
usually consulted

h ) , : ~ ~%

Informal resolution ' ‘ ' Formal investigation ' 4‘ Allegatign dismissed

~

Decision

Independent Person
must be consulted

d
[Parish council: report of décision
LEnd any recommended sanctior]

h 4

Sanction’

L

= 33

/ACPP & C_Z'ow'rl.




Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

Objectivity: Holders of public office must
act and take decisions impartially, fairly
and on merit, using the best evidence and
without discrimination or bias.

An investigation process needs to be

proportionate and fair. The process must

have an independent element as a check on

~ the impartiality of decision-making. The more -
significant the sanctions that can be imposed,

the more robust the independent element

nesds to be in order to safeguard the fairness

of the process. At the moment, this element is .

_ primarily fulfilled by the Independent Person.
Whilst the Monitoring Officer has the power
under current legislation to investigate and
make decisions on allegations, many principal
authorities have standards committees to
decide on allegations and impose sanctions.

Filtering complaints

The Monitoring Officer usually filters complaints
- about councillor conduct and judges if the
complaints are trivial or vexatious, or whether
they should proceed to a full investigation.
Usually this filtering is based on the judgment
of the officer, often against a formal policy,
though the Monitoring Officer may seek the
advice of an independent person-or members
of a standards committee when they do so.

The standards bodies in Scotland, Wales and
Northern Ireland all make use of.a ‘public
interest’ test when filtering complaints.

These tests set clear expectations to those
making complaints and ensure consistency of
approach. The tests do not necessarily need
to be detailed. For example, the Northern - -
Ireland Local Government Commissioner for
Standards provides a simple two-stage test,
which asks whether they ‘can’ investigate the
complaint, and whether they ‘should’.

Northern Ireland Local Government
Commissioner for Standards public
interest test

1 ‘CAN’ we investigate youru complaint?

Is the person you are oomplammg about
a councillor?

Did the conduct occur within the last six
months?

Is the conduct something thaf is
covered by the code”?’ '

2 ‘SHOULD’ we investigate your
complaint?

‘I there evidence which supports the
complaint?

s the conduct something which it is
possible to investigate?

e Would an inves‘tigation be proportionate
and in the public interest?%

: Best. bractlcé 6: Councils should
' publlsh a clear and stralghtforward

f publlc mterest test against which
 allegations are filtered.

Safeguards

A certain level of independent oversight is
crucial to any standards arrangement. The
inclusion of an independent element in the
process of deciding on code breaches is
important to ensure that the process is fair and
impartial, and that councillors are protected
against politically-motivated, malicious or
unfounded allegations of misconduct.

53 Avallable online at: https:/[n!pso.org.uk/nilgcs/making—a-complalnt/how—we~deal—with-your—complainf/

53

34




L

f=ess

Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

In the current local government standards
system, this element is provided by the
Independent Person. We believe that this
safeguard should be strengthened and
clarified. Other safeguards should also be

put in place to ensure the faimess of the
process, by enabling independent members of
‘standards committees to vote, and a provision
for councillors to appeal a decision to suspend
them following the finding of a breach.

Our councillors feel safe with the ‘
standards committee because they know
any allegation will be dealt with fairly and
impartially. As group whips, we know that
if something goes through the process it
will have the confidence of our members.**
Clir Dan Cohen, Leeds City Council

Independent Persons
The role of the Independent Person has
become a distinctive office in its own right.
The provisions in the Localism Act 2011 give
councils considerable flexibility over what

- sort of person performs the role (with only.
the criteria for ‘independence’ specified) and
how the role js performed, subject to the -
requirement that their views must be able to
be sought by members and complainants and
that their views must to be sought and taken
into account before deciding on an allegation
that has been subject to a formal investigation.

We have met some exceptional Independent
Pérsons in the course of our review, who
give their time and expertise to maintain high
standards in local authorities. We have been
impressed by the diligence and commitment of
those we have met. The role is often unpaid or
subject to a nominal payment or honorarium.

/FPP 3 conT

- The Indepen'dent‘Person has no formal

powers, and whilst their views must be ‘taken
into account’, they do not have a decisive
say on the outcome of an investigation. As
such, the nature and effectiveness of the role
in any individual instance depends both upon
the-appointee and the attitude of the local
authority. . -

“The title “independent Person’ creates
a false impression with the public, who.
believe that | have real decision-making

" powers. In reality | have no powers at all,
the role is wholly advisory and weak [...]**
Richard Stow, Independent Person

We have seen a number of different
approaches taken by local authorities and
by the office-holders themselves towards
the Independent Person rules. Some are
simply consulted as required over email by
a Monitoring Officer, or attend standards
committees in an observer capacity; others
play an active role in reviewing.an authority’s
code or prooesses,' offering training to

- councillors or even forming an authority-wide

ethics panel to advise on all aspects of ethical

- practice and decision-making.

Regardless of the approach taken, it is clear

- that a positive relationship with the local |

authority’s Monitoring Officer is crucial to
being able to perform the role effectively. This
relationship involves a mutual recognition of.
roles: on the one hand, recognising that the

" Monitoring Officer has specific responsibility

and accountability for the standards process
in an authority, and on the other that the
Independent Person can bring a valuable
external and impartial perspective that can
assure and enhance the fairness of the .
Process.

54 Clir Dan Cohen, Visit to Leeds City Councll, Tuesday 18 September 2018

55 Witten evidence 208 (Richard Stow)

54

35




" We do agree that the Independent
Persons provide a valuable objective
voice in the standards process. It is
incredibly useful for the Monitoring Officer
to have this support and advice from an
external perspective, and it offers a great
opportunity for local residents to bring a -
wide variety of experience and expertise to
the process.®®
London Borough of Sutton

| ocal authorities use Independent Persons in
different ways, and we have seen evidence of
a range of good practice. Many authorities will
appoint two or more Independent Persons.
Some authorities will, in any given case,

have one Independent Person offer a view to
members or complainants, and another to
offer a view to the local authority, so as not

to be in a position where they may-be forced
to prejudge the merit of an allegation. Other
authorities will consult with one Independent
Person on whether to undertake a formal
investigation, and another to advise on that
investigation. Many local authorities consult
an Independent Person at all points of the
process, including when filtering complaints.

Beétrp'raetice 7: Local authorities

_should have access to at least two
Independent Persons . ,

We heard that many Monitoring Officers
appreciate the impartial view that the
Independent Person can offer, both to improve
the quality of decision-making itself and as

a visible check on the process to reassure
cotngillors and complainants that their
decisions are made fairly. We have also heéard
~“evidence, however, of councils failing to make

Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

good use of their Independent Person, and of

an antagonistic or dlsmlssnve attitude towards
their role.

The evidence we received suggests that the
Indepéendent Person role needs to be clarified,
strengthened, and better supported.

The years since the passage of the Localism
Act have seen a more defined role for the
Independent. Person emerge. This role should
now be formalised. In our view, an Independent
Person needs not just to be independent
according to the requirements of the Localism
Act 2011 but should also show an ability to:

e offer authoritative and impartial advice

o maintain independence in a politically
sensitive environment .

e gai.n the confidence of councillors, officers,
and the public

e make decisions on an impartial basis,
grounded in the evidence

e work constructively with the local authorlty '
and senior officers

The Independent Person should be seen
primarily as an impartial advisor to the council
on code of conduct matters. They should
provide a view on code of conduct allegations
based on the evidence before them, and
whilst being aware of the political context,
should be politically neutral. Local authorities
should make use of their perspective and
expertise when reviewing their code of conduct
and processes. Their advice should also be
able to be sought from subject members

and members of the public, in line with the
requirements of the Localism Act.

. 56 Written evidence 311 (London Borough of Sutton)

55

36



Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

Best practlceS Anlndependent )

Person should be consulted as
__to whether to undertake a formal

investigation on an allegation, and

should be given the option to review

and comment on allegations which
the responsible officer is minded ,
to dismiss as being without merit,
vexatious, or frivial. -

The role should also be strengthened. Security
of tenure is important in order to protect
Independent Persons from being removed
from their role for unpopular advice or
recommendations. Equally, however, restricted
tenure can ensure that the Independent
Person’s judgment and independence is not
compromised.by a long period of involvement
in a single authority.

There is a tendency to recruit [Ps on
a four-year basis and that is eminently

- sensible; it makes it less possible for IPs
to be accused of becoming too close to
council members. | think it is important
to ensure that 1P$ are seen as remaining
independent and continuing to reach their
own conclusions on issues where their
views are.sought.5” . .

- Dr Peter Bebbington,
Independent Person

We therefore recommend that Independent
Persons should be appointed for a fixed
term of two years, with the option of a

single re-appointment. The terms of multiple
Independent Persons should ideally overlap,

_ t0.ensure a level of continuity and institutional

memory.

A’PP R CONT.

, ;B_e](::omiﬁéhdatibn‘8:?'.l'e;l"|'e Localism =
- Act 2011 should be amended to

_ require that Independent Persons
_are appointed for a fixed termof two
years, renewable once. e

Currently, there is no requirement for the
Independent Person’s view on a case 1o be
formally recorded, for example, in a formal
decision issued by the Monitoring Officer or

a standards committee. Whilst there may be
reasons that the decision-maker ultimately
reaches a different view from the Independent
Person, the safeguard that they provide would
be stronger if their view was always made
transparent.

Although the law requires them to give
views on matters under investigation and
for the council to have regard to those
views, in practice they are often invisible
from the process to an outsider —the
public whom they are meant to represent.
It is not clear to us where their views are

- published so that the public can have
confidence that the council has had regard
to them and that the process has been
independently verified.®
Hoey Ainscough Associates

. Recommendation 9: The Local
Government Transparency Code

- should be updated to provide that
the view of the Independent Person

in relation to a decision on which
they are consulted should be formally '

recorded in any decision notice or
minutes.

57 Dr Peter Bebbington, Roundtable, 18 April 2018
58 Written evidence 212 (Hoey Alnscough Assoclates)

56

37




Were councils to be given the ability to -
suspend coundillors, as we recommend in
chapter 4, more safeguards would need to
be put in place to ensure that this sanction
is imposed fairly and that councillors are
properly protected from potéential misuse of
the standards process. We suggest that the
Independent Person would have to confirm
that, in their view, a breach of the code ’
had taken place, and that they agree that’
suspension would be pfoportionate, in order
~for the local authority to impose suspension for
that breach. '

Recdmméndatioh, 10 A l,oc'élb authority
should only be able to suspend a
_councillor where the authority’s

_Independent Person agrees both
with the finding of a breach and that
suspendlng the counclllor would bea

fproportlonate sanctlon - ,

We have noted recent First Tier Tribunal

. cases®® which have found that it will often be,
on balance, in the public interest to disclose
the view or advice of the Independent Person
under the Freedom of Information Act-2000.
As above, we support the Independent
Person’s advice being made public, which
could enhance openness and accountapility.
However, we are concerned that Independent
Persons would not automatically enjoy
indemnity if a councillor or member of the
public were to take legal action against them,
in the same way that a member or officer '
of an authority would. Local authorities

should take steps to provide legal indemnity
to Independent Persons if their views are
disclosed, and the government should confirm
this through secondary legislation if needed.

Recommendatuon
_should provide legal mdemmty to
. Independent Persons iif their views: or
advice are disclosed. The government
_ should require this through secondary
, Ieglslatlon |f needed = ‘

We have seen the benefits of strong networks
among Monitoring Officers and senior officers,’
in order to share best practice, undertake
professional development, and learn from each
other’s experiences. We would suppott the
creation of a network of Independent Persons,
which, despite the potential benefits it could
offer, is currently lacking at present.

59 Bennis v [CO & Stratford [201 8] UKFTT 2017_0220 (GRC)

57

38



Chapter 3; Investigations and safeguards

kPP R conT.

' _ Strengthening and clérifying the role of the Independent Person

Current role

Proposed role

No role specification

Clarified role specification

No requirements for term

Fixed-term appointment, renewable once

Required only to be consulted by the
- authority on an allegation subject to a formal
investigation ' '

Best practice also includes being consulted
on allegations the MO is minded to dismiss,
and on whether to undertake a formal
investigation

No formal powers

Must agree with the finding of a breach
and that suspension is proportionate for a
coundillor to be suspended *

No disclosure requirements

The view of the IP is recorded in any formal
decision notice or minutes

No legal protection

| Legal indemnity brovided by local authority

Standards committees

Under the Localism Act 2011, local authoritiés E

are not required to have standards committees
to adjudicate on breaches and decide upon
sanctions, but a large number of authorities in
England choose to do so. :

Local authorities should maintain a standards
committee. A standards committee can play a
role in deciding on allegations and sanctions,
or in monitoring standards issues in the local

authority ahd reporting back to full council, or a -

combination of these.

We have come across a range of different
ways in which standards committees operate
as part of our review. Leeds City Council
produce a valuable annual report to council

- from the standards committee. Cornwall
Council include representatives from town and
parish councils and a town clerk, in addition
to independent members and members of the
principal authority. The Independent Persons
who observe the Uttlesford District Gounil

standards committee have also led training
workshops and the redrafting of the code

of conduct. Each of thess, in their own way, '
harness the knowledge and observations of
the standards committee to elevate issues or
significant trends to the notice of thé council.

Under the current legislative framework, a -
standards committee may be advisory (only
advising the council as a whole on what action
to take, and unable by itself to exercise any

of the council's formal powers) or decision-
making (having the council’s formal powers

to decide on allegations and to impose
sanctions where a breach is found delegated

" to it). If the standards committee is a decision-

making committee, it is permitted to have
independent members (members who are not
councillors) appointed to it, but those members
are not allowed to vote. Advisory standards
committees may have voting independent
members. Under the current legislation, '
Independent Persons in an authority cannot
also be members of its standards committee.®

80 Locallsm Act 2011, sections 27(4) and 28(8)

58

39




A number of respondents to our consultation
considered that the system would be

- strengthened by allowing independent
members of decision-making standards
committees to vote. We suggest that the
current requirements for an Independent
Person, with the necessary amendments,
should apply to such members (that the
individual is not a member, not otherwise’ co-
optedontoa committee of the authority, not

g sanctions.

- should be given il

_ power to establish
standards commit

‘independent memb:

ecision-making

withvoting

sandvoting

| members from dependent parishes, -
_to decide on allegations and impose

an officer in the authority or a dependent parish . |

within the last five years, nor a relative or close
friend of such an individual).

The Member Conduct Committee at
Wychavon is broadly happy with the
existing processes and structures,
but feels that it was a retrograde

step to remove the voting rights of
independent members, who are a
cornerstone of an objective conduct
committee, The committee would also
suggest that the ability to invite parish
council representatives to take part in
investigations should be restored.®’
Wychavon Borough Council

We have also seen evidence of the advantages
of including parish representatives on

.+ standards committees, who under the current -
~arrangements, could not be voting members

unless on an advisory committee. Including -
parish representatives on a principal authority
standards committee can huild a more
effective relationship between their respective
councils and enable the committee to take
the perspective and views of the parish into

"~ account.

Even where a local authority includes
independent members on a standards
committee, they would still be required to -
retain an Independent Person. In line with our .
best practice above, although the independent
members of standards committee would
enhance the independence of a formal
decision-making process on an allegation, an

Independent Person would stil be required to

advise subject members on allegations and
advise the Monitoring Officer on allegations
they are minded to dismiss and on whether to
undertake a formal investigation.

Appeals and escalation

A means of appeal is an important aspect

of natural justice, and as a safeguard for
counciliors to ensure that the standards
process operates fairly and impartially. Whilst
the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman {who we refer to as the “Local
Government Ombudsman”) can consider
complaints about the investigation and
decision process followed by a local authority
where there is evidence of injustice, there

is currently no means of appeal against the
finding of a breach by a local authority within
the local government standards system.

A formal appeal system would be
disproportionate in relation to the most
commonly imposed sanctions, such as
censure or training. However, we recommend

61 Wiritten evidence 211 (Peter Purnell)

59

40




‘Chapter.3: Investigations and safeguards

in chapter 4 the introduction of a power to
suspend coungillors for up to six months. As
an aspect of natural justice, such a sanction
would require a right of appeal.

‘The lack of a right of appeal (either by the
complainant/subject member) is often
criticised.®® :

Lawyers in Local Government

We have considered a range of options for how
aright of appeal could be included within the
local government standards arrangements,
including internal appeals within a principal
authority. However, we consider that an appeals
process should ideally be independent. As we
set out in chapter 1, we do not believe that

a new, external standards body should be
created, and so consider that giving a role for
appeals to the Local Government Ombudsman
would be the most appropriate way to enable
an independent, external appeal process.

" |f these more serious sanctions were
available to standards committees, we
accept that this could require some kind
of external/independent appeal process
to be available fo the member complained
about. This could be organised through
the LGA or regional associations such as
London councils, and need not require
a return to the much criticised national
statutory arrangements of the Standards

- Board, although some additional resource
would be requwed An alternative would be
for the Ombudsman to consider or hear
appeals if they met a certain threshold, as
we undefstand the Welsh LGO does in
their role.®
London Borough of Sutton

'A’PP R con.

Currently, the Local Government Ombudsman
can investigate a local authority’s decision-
making process in undertaking a standards
investigation or imposing a sanction on
grounds of maladministration where there is
some evidence of injustice, for example, if
there is an unreasonable delay or evidence of
a conflict of interest. This avenue is open both
to complainants and to subject councillors.
The Ombudsman could then recommend a
remedy to the local authority (though this is not
legally enforceable). The Local Government

. Ombudsman stated in evidence to us that

it has investigated the standards process in

a local authority in a small number of cases,
usually recommending a remedy of re-running
a standards investigation.® This is an under-
appreciated safeguard within the current:

- system.

: .Commonlissues with local authority
standards processes considered by
the Local Government Ombudsman65

e unreasonable delays in councils taking
~ action to investigate a complaint

e councils failing to take into account
relevant mformatlon in reaching its
decision - .

» councils not following their own
procedures in investigating the
complaint (e.g. notinvolving an
independent person) or not having
proper procedures in place

The Ombudsman cannot, however, adjudicate
on the substantive question of whether a '
breach actually took place and what the
appropriate sanction would be, as this lies:
outside their remit.

62 Written evidence 228 {Lawyers In Local Government)
683 Written svidence 311 (London Borough of Sutton)
B84 Written evidence 126 {
65 Written evidence 126 (

60

Local Government and Soclal Care Ombudsman)
| ocal Government and Soclal Care Ombudsman)

41




~ Our powers enable us to investigate the
council's handling of the complaint, and
where there is evidence of injustice, we
will be able to make recommendations
for how the issues can be remedied.

However, we cannot consider the
substantive issues that form the complaint .
itself and do not provide a right of appeal
against a council’s decision whether
there has been a breach of standards of
conduct.®® ‘

- Local Government Ombudsman

The Local Government.Ombudsman indicated
in evidence to us that they considered that
adjudicating on substantive standards issues
would complement their existing work.

- Given that standards failings are often-linked
to broader institutional issues, giving the
Ombudsman a greater role in considering |
ethical standards issues could improve their
oversight of the sector as a whole.”

In order to provide a genuine appeal function,
the Ombudsman’s decision would need to be
legally binding on the local authority —rather
than a non-binding recommendation, which
is the formal status of the Ombudsman’s
decisions on cases of maladministration.
This would likely require a separate legislative
hasis. We note that the Public Service
Ombudsman for Wales also has a separate
legislative basis for their investigations into
hreaches of the code of conduct to their
broader ombudsman role.

In order to ensure that the appeal function
would be used proportionately, we consider -
that it should only be available for councillors
who have had a sanction of suspension
imposed. The right of appeal should be time-
limited, and the Ombudsman should issue

Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

a decision within a specified, reasonable
timeframe. The Ombudsman should be able to
apply their own public interest test in deciding
whether to investigate a case on appeal by

a councillor. Complainants should not be
permitted to appeal against-a finding, but, as
now, could complain.to the Ombudsman on

- grounds of maladministration if they consider
- that the process followed was flawed; if, -

for exarhple, there was evidence that was
provided that was not taken into account.

Whilst the Ombudsman’s remit does not
extend to town and parish councils, under the
Localism Act, sanctions can only be imposed
on parish councillors following the finding of
breach and a recommended sanction by the
principal authority, which we recommend
below should become a binding decision by
the principal authority. We therefore consider
that parish councillors who are subject to

“a suspension should be able to appeal to

the Local Government Ombudsman as the
decision is taken by a principal authority, who
already fall within the OmBudsman’s remit.

The role of the Local Government Ombudsman
would then be similar, on the one hand, to

the role performed by the Adjudication Panel
for Wales, which hears appeals of decisions

by local standards committees; and on the
other, to the Public Service Ombudsman for

* Wales and the Northern Ireland Public Services

Ombudsrman who have a combined local
government standards and local government
ombudsman role. A role limited to appeals
against a decision to Impose a period of
suspension would mean that local authorities
would retain primary responsibility for local
standards and would avoid the creation of a
centralised standards body. ’

66 Written evidence 126 {Local Government and Social Care Omﬁ)udsman)

61

42




Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

Proposed appeals process

Local aUthority investigétes
an alle_ge,d breach

~

Local authority finds a breach
~and imposes a sanction

v

I Sahoti_on of suspension irhposed?

No right of‘appeal against
“sanctions oth'er than suspension

62 43

A‘PP-B CoNT.




‘v:',:ReébmfnéndatiOh 1"3‘:;'Cbu'ntci |

;’slh,f?uld‘rbe‘ given the right to appéa‘it 5
__the Local Government Ombudsman if

_ their local authority imposes a period
B of suspension for breaching the code
_ofconduct. ot R

Recommendation 14: The Local !
8 Government Ombudsman should be
_ given the power to investigate and.
_decide upon an allegation of a code
of conduct breach by a councillor,

_ and the appropriate sanction, on
_appeal by a councillor who has e

_ had a suspension imposed. The
Ombudsman’s decision should be
_binding.on the local authority.

~ Promoting openness and transparency

Openness: Holders of public office should
act and take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should
not be withheld from the public uniess
there are clear and lawful reasons for so

© doing.

Openness and transparency are important -
secondary safeguards, to ensure that the
process can be scrutinised by other councillors
and by the public. We heard evidence that many
councils do not publish data and decisions

on standards issues in a regular or open way.
Gouncils should be free to make their own
arrangements for whether they maintain a public
list of pending investigations. However, councils
should be recording allegations and complaints
they receive, even if they do not result in an
investigation, and should certainly publish
decisions on formal investigations.

Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards

The Nolan principle of openness demands that

~ councils should be taking decisions, including

decisions on standards issues, in an open way.
The experience of the Committee is that whilst

. transparency does not automatically increase

public trust in a process, it is nevertheless
essential to enabling public scrutiny and

. accountability.

We have seen examples of both good and
bad practice in how open councils’ standards
processes are. The best examples involved a
single, easily accessible page on an authority’s
website explaining in straightforward terms -
how a member of the public can make a
complaint under the code of conduct, what
their complaint needs to include, the process
for handling complaints, and the expected

“timescales for investigations and decisions.
“That page would also include links to recent

decisions on allegations that came before the
standards committee. ‘ ‘

'Recommendation 15: The Local
_ Government Transparency Code
'should be updated to require councils
to publish annually: the number of
__code of conduct complaints they

receive; what the complaints broadly '
relate to (e.g. bullying; conflict of :
__interest); the outcome of those
_‘complaints, including if they are
rejected as trivial or vexatious; and
any sanctions applied. '

63

44




Chapter 3: Investigations and safeguards -

f‘Best prachce 9 Wi )

, a Iocal

_ authority makes a decisiononan
 allegation of misconduct following

_ a formal investigation, a decision

_ notice should be published as

soon as possible on its website,
including a brief statement of facts,

__the provisions of. the code engaged
by the allegatlons, the view of the

Independent Person, the reasoning of :'

_the decision-maker, and any sanction

_applied.

,' Best practice 10: A local authority .

should have straightforward and
accessible guidance on its website

_on how to make a complaint under

_ the code of conduct, the process for
_ handling complamts, and estimated
 timescales for mvestlgatlons and

" outcomes , ,

64

| A’PP gCo&‘TtNu@

Avoiding legahsahon

It is vital to get the balance rlght between the
privileges and responsibilities of démocratic
representatives. Whilst councillors have a

. . responsibility to uphold high standards, in

particular by upholding their council’s code

of conduct, it would be concerning if they
could easily be made subject to an expensive
legal process, which could then make the
standards system open to misuse. The
standards arrangements in England should
therefore remain based on ‘lay justice’,

where the requirements and processes are
sufficiently clear and straightforward so that -
no councillor subject to an investigation would
be disadvantaged by lacking formal legal
representation.

Updating and clarifying the: Localism Act

2011 to address the practical problems

of interpretation that have cometo light in
recent years — particularly regarding conflicts
of interests — would help in this regard, as
would a greater role for the Local Government
Ombudsman, by allowing councillors to appeal
a sanction of suspension without having to
resort to the civil courts for review or remedy.

More broadly, the focus should remain on

individual local authorities maintaining high
standards in their own councils. Councils need
not be tied up with long-running standards
investigations; they should put in place strong
filtering mechanisms to make sure that only
allegations with real merit begin a formal

* process of investigation, Likewise, use of the
- most serious sanctions should remain rare. For

those subject to an investigation or sanctions
process, councils should also provide clear,
plain English guidance on how the process
works and councillors’ responsibilities within it.

45




Chapter 4: Sanctions

Chapter 4: Sanctions

Any system designed to uphold standards
of ethical behaviour needs to include ways
to address and redress behaviour which falls
seriously and/or repeatedly short of what is
expected. Under the current arrangements

- when a councillor has been found to have
broken the code of conduct there is no
requirement to comply with remedial action.
Whilst it is recognised that early, informal .
resolution of minor misdemeanours can be
the most effective, the evidence we received
demonstrated overwhelmingly that this lack
of enforcement authority is a weakness in the

system which may also deter genuine concerns

being raised. The questions remain, however,
as to what sanctions are appropriate and
. proportionate, and who should enforce them.

Throughout this review it has become clear .
that ethical principles must be embedded in
organisational culture through training and
leadership, and codes of conduct should
guide the behaviour of individuals by spelling
out what those principles require. When
misconduct does occur, however, sanctions

play an important role in maintaining standards.

Sanctions are also needed to give credibility
to an ethical culture, so that the cultureis
not engaged with cynically or lightly. As one
~ academic commentator on.local government
standards has pointed out, “[...] although
there is a tension between ‘rules-based’ and
‘cultural’ strategies it does not follow that they
are mutually exclusive. Rather, the challenge
is to find the balance between a system that
supports self-motivation and trust whilst still
being credible in the face of examples of

persistent misconduct and cynical motivation.”®

As we have stated previously, “[...] people need
to see poor behaviour punished as well as good
hehaviour rewarded, although it is, of course,
better for people to internalise the principles
behind the right behaviour, and to want to do
the right thing, than to do so only because of
the fear of getting caught and punished.”®®

The purpose of sanctions
Sanctions serve four purposes in a standards

framework: motivating observance of -~

standards -arrangements, deterring damaging -
behaviour, preventing further wrongdoing, and
maintaining public confidence.

Sanctions help to ensure that individuals
engage with an ethical standards regime. Our
predecessor Committee noted in its first report

“that “[...] unless obligations are routinely and

firmly enforced, a culture of slackness can
develop with the danger that in due course this
could lead on to tolerance of corruption”.® In
this review we heard of a small but significant
number of individual councillors who appeared
to have no respect for a standards regime
without cost or consequence and whose
continued poor behaviour demonstrated their
‘opting out’. '

Punitive sanctions can act as a deterrent to
behaviour which is sefiously damaging to the
public interest. Sometimes a lapse in good
conduct can be a genuine oversight, often

due 1o lack of understanding or awareness,
and any sanction should be appropriate

and proportionate. But the more damaging
behaviour requires a greater deterrent,
particularly where it brings local democracy into
disrepute or otherwise harms the public good.

67 Stephen Greasley (2007) "Maintaining ethlcal cultures: Self-regulation In English local government”, Local Government Studies, 33:3, 451-464

68 Committee on Standards in Public Life (2013), Standards Matter,

Cm 8519, 4.25

69 Committee on Standards In Public Life (1 995), Standards In Public Life, Cm 2850-|, para 97

65

46




Chapter 4: Sanctions

Some sanctions are needed to prevent further
wrongdoing where a breach occurs. These
sanctions‘will typically involve curtailing or
restricting an individual’s activity in relation to
council business, especially where the form

of the breach suggests that a repeat offence
is likely, or where council business would

be inhibited by an mdlvxdual s continued
involverment. ~

. The credibility of any standards regime is
undermined without the option to resort to
sanction when needed. Sanctions help to
maintain public confidence that something
can be done when things go badly wrong.
When used correctly, the application of
appropriate sanctions give reassurance

“that the expectations of the public of high
standards of conduct are being observed,
and that wrongdoing is taken seriously. Public

~ confidence will, however, only be maintained

if sanctions are sufficient to deter and prevent
further wrongdoing, and are imposed fairly and
in a timely way.

The current sanctions arrangements

The Localism Act 2011 removed the ability for
councillors to be suspended or disqualified
(except for the statutory disqualification
requirements which we discuss below). As
a result, councils have become increasingly
~ creative in their approach to using sanctions.
Sanctions used by local authorities include
censure, apology and training, as well as the
removal from committee responsibilities by.a
party and in some cases, the withdrawal of
access to facilities and resources (for example
laptops or unescorted building passes).
However, sanctions which ban members from
council premises usually require cross-party
support and are typically only considered
appropriate in response to threatening
behaviour such as bullying council officers.

66

The evidence we received suggests that the
lack of serious sanctions, such as suspension:

e prevents local authorities from enforcing

lower level sanctions, 'such as training

or apology. When councillors refuse to
apologise or to undergo training, the only
route open to counclls isto publicise the
breach and the refusal. - ’

damages the-public credibility of the
standards system. Members of the public
who make code of conduct complaints

© bt do not see a-significant outcome even

where a breach is found would be justifiably
frustrated that the standards system is
not dealing with misconduct in a robust or
effective way.

malkes the cost and resources
of undertaking an investigation
disproportionate in relation to sanctions

“available. We have heard evidence that

Monitoring Officers resist undertaking

standards investigations where possible,
due to the significant cost, where a likely
sanction may only be censure or training.

We have also heard some evidence that
.. members of the public do not make formal

complaints as they do not consider the
effort worthwhile given the hrmted outoomes
available.

gives local authorities no effective means
of containing reputational. damage or -
preventing recurrence, for.example, in

“the case of disclosure of confidential

information or bullying of officials. We heard
that the lack of effective sanctions is-deeply
frustrating for officers and oounolllors who
want to maintain the effective running of a
coundil and to maintain-high standards of
conduct.

47




The removal of the powers previously
open to local authorities to suspend a

~ councillor and the broader sanctions open

to Standards for England has removed
the teeth of the standards regime,
particularly in relation to repeat offenders.
This undermines-public confidence in the
standards regime, particularly in the eyes

© of complainants who may be left with the

belief that a councillor found guilty of a
breach has ‘got away with it’.”
Tonbridge and Malling Borough
Council S

~ We do have good processes in place,

but rarely use them due to the expense
and time taken knowing that there is no
significant sanction available at the end

of the process to address serious issues.
Councils simply cannot afford to enter
into potentially long and costly processes
unless it is clearly in the public interest.
Time and money are key factors when
they really should not be. As such, no-one
achieves real satisfaction under. the current
standards regime.” '
Taunton Deane Borough Council

Chapter 4: Sanctions

It is the almost universal view of every
council we have worked with that the'
limited range of sanctions available to
councils is completely unsuitable for the
worst cases and for serial misconduct.”
Hoey Ainscough Associates

Press reports show continuing instances
of bullying, insulting, offensive and
inappropriate behaviour towards fellow
members, public and officers. Even when
action is taken, in the worst cases, the
limited sanctions that can be imposed
are ignored or even seen as a ‘badge
of honour'... reports have historically

. shown:how, if unchecked at the outset,
a corrosive and demoralizing culture can
quickly take hold.™ '
David Prince CBE

Some councillors view low-level sanctions
such as censure as a ‘badge of honour’,
to indicate that they do not cooperate with
the ‘established’ process, and may often
not cooperate with sanctions in order to
cause disruption to a local authority and the
individuals within it.

Party group discipline

Political groups, where they exist, make use of
their own internal disciplinary processes. These
processes are used, for example, to-enforce
whipping, but also in response 1o breaches of
ethical standards. The evidence we received
suggested that these processes are used
partly to fill the gap left by the lack of formal
sanctions available to principal authorities.

Writteri evidence 24 (Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council)
Written evidence 131 {Taunton Deane Borough Councll)
Written evidence 212 (Hoey Ainscough Assoclates)

Written evidence 31 (David Prince CBE)

67

48




Chapter 4: Sanctions

In many places party discipline has

effectively filed the void left by the
¢ouncil’s lack of formal powers but in our
experience this is patchy and too subject

. 1o political calculation, such as the effect
on balance of power within an authority
so cannot be relied upon to be consistent
across the country.™ -
Hoey Ainscough Associates

. A political group is & group of any two or more
coundillors in a principal authority who formally
notify the Monitoring Officer that they wish to
be considered as a poltical group. Members
of a political group do not have to be members
of the same political party, though most
councils will include groups from the mmiain
national political parti)es. The relative strength of -
Aumbers in political groups will determine the
administration and opposition in a council.

Political groups will often undertake a whipping
function, sd that the group votes consistently on
particular proposals (though this is not permitted
in functions such as planning and licensing).
They will exercise party discipline, both to
enforce whipping and group rules, but also in
response to poor behaviour by councillors.

- ArpP B conTivuEd

Under the legislation which governs council
committees, the council allocates seats on

committees to political groups in proportion
to the relative sizes of the political groups

* within the council as a whole. The council is

required to put the wishes of a political group
into effect as far as possible when allocating
individual councillors to committees from
within that group. This means that-in practice,
political group leaders decide on committee
‘appointments (although the wishes of &
majority of group members would in theory
take precedence). This is a significant power
of patronage that can be used as as part of a
disciplinary process by parties. Groups may
also remove individuals from other posts to
which they have been nominated by their
group; and a majority party may also take away
portfolios or other special responsibilities. -

We heard from political parties that the threat
of suspension or expulsion from-a group in
particular can be an effective deterrent at the .
level of political group within a council.

Whilst political groups have a formal legal
definition, in practice they are organised:
differently in different authorities. Some will be
highly organised with a hierarchy of a leadet,
deputy leader and group whips, will have group

" discussions on a large number of matters that

The greatest sanctions appear to be
informal sanctions issued by groups and
leaders, in terms of, for example, removal
from committees, other bodies, posts, and.
of the whip. Our strong view is that while in
many cases political groups have acted on
such bases, a standards framework that

is reliant on the decisions of those groups
to effect proportionate sanctions is not an
effective one.”™

Andrew Maughan, Monitoring Officer,
Camden Council

come before council, and enforce whipping
through party discipline. Others will have a
group leader also acting as a group whip, and
may take a lighter-touch approach to group.
discussions or whipping. Independent groups,
for example, are very likely to take a light-
touch approach to whipping, or, indeed, may
have independence from a whip as the central
rationale for the group.

P'aﬁy discipline can play a positive role in
upholding ethical standards within a local
authority. We heard that senior officers may

74  Written evldence.2‘12_ {Hoey Alnscough Assoclates)
75 \Written evidence 151 (Andrew Maughan, Camden Councif)

68

49




often make an informal approach to political

group leaders if they have concerns.over the

behaviour of a member of that group. Internal

party discipline, or even simply advice from

a group leader, can be a useful means of

moderating individuals’” behaviour without

needing to resort to the formal standards

. process. However, we also heard of instances
where an approach to a political group was

considered a serious step, and that the ‘

Monitoring Officer, if they had any concems

about the behaviour of a councillor, would

* gpeak to that individual on a one-to-one basis,

Sometimes, however, cases of alleged.
misconduct may go to a political group leader
or even the nationel leader of a political party
instead of being reported to the Monitoring
Officer at a local authority.

Examples of political party disciplinary .
process used as an alternative to the
formal standards process

In July 2018, a Greenwich councillor was -

" suspended by their political group, as a:
result of their being charged with fraud -
following investigation by the council and
réferral to the police. The councillor was
also removed from appointments made by
their party group. S

In Nuneaton, a political group leader wrote
to the leader of a national political party

in July 2018, to seek party discipline for
councillors of that party for alleged abuse
during a council meeting. :

While party discipline can therefore have a
posttive role to play within local government,
it also has drawbacks. Party discipline
cannot apply to coundillors who are not a

Chapter 4: Sanctions

¢

member of a political group. This means that
party discipline cannot be used in relation to

“independent counciliors, including those who

might previously have been expelled from a
party group. Political groups seldom exist in.
parishes, and so cannot address misconduct
at parish level. |

Party discipline may mean that political factors
are taken into account over the public interest.
When an authority is dominated by a single
party or there Is a very slim majority held

by a.party, that party may have an interest

in downplaying or minimising standards
‘breaches, rather than addressing them.

[t may also inhibit scrutiny and openness

more generally where this may cause
.embarrassment to the party group.

~ Party discipline processes can run concurrently

with, and in some cases preempt, the outcome
of a formal standards investigation. -

. We saw evidence that political parties have

taken steps to enable swift discipline by group
leaders or whips at a local level in serious
cases. But this will tend to lack transparency, ‘
without formal announcements of measures

| taken or open investigative processes,

particularly when political parties are under
pressure to respond quickly.

There used to be a fairly clunky process

of bringing a report to the group for the
group to take action. We've revised that
to take account of the way that news can
spread so rapidly, and given.group leaders
the power to make a decision there and
then for a time limited period along with -
the whip.”™ :

ClIr Rory Love, Ghairman,
Conservative Councillors’ Association

76 Clir Rory Love, Individual oral evidence, Wednesday 27 June 2018

69

50




Chapter 4: Sanctions |

We also sought evidence during our review
on the role of national political parties. Whilst
national poltical parties will often have their.
own code of condluct, their involvement in
allegations of misconduct will tend to be

on a case-by-case basis, with less of a
formal system for escalating and managing
complaints. Party representatives we spoke to
said that, understandably, the national party
would involve itself only in serious cases of
where it had an interest for particular reasons.
Inevitably, the involvement of a national party
is more likely when reputational issues are at
stake, for example, during the selection of
candidates at election time.

During the recent elections, we had no
hesitation in suspending candidates from

~ the Conservative whip even before the
election day as a message to say “if you
have the privilege of representing our party,
there are standards we expect of you”.”’
Clir Rory Love, Chairman,
Conservative Councillors’ Association

There is a particular focus [on standards]
just before the point of election, which |
think will remain the case. That's when the
paity has the most influence, that’s when

" those conversations take place.”™ ‘
Clir Simon Henig CBE, Chair,
Association of.Labour Councillors

We have therefore concluded that political
parties cannot play the central role in sanctions
and upholding standards within an authority.
Political group discipline is, essentially, an.
internal matter. This means it will never have
the levels of transparency, consistency and

APP 6 CéQTlMUED

the relevant checks on impartiality that should

B characterise a fair and effective standards

process. Whilst we have come across
examples of positive joint working across
political groups, and very effective relationships
between officers and political groups, the party
disciplinary process is still subject to political
imperatives, even in authorities with otherwise
very effective standards arrangements. In
addition, political-groups rarely operate at
parish council level, and so party discipline
cannot effectively address misconduct at
parish level. '

If, as our evidence suggests, the current high
levels of involvement of parties in.the standards
process is due to a lack of formal sanctions,
the reintroduction of a power of suspension
may lead to a diminished role for political
patties. Even if this were the case, political
parties would still have an important role to
play, which we consider further in chapter.8.

The sanction of the ‘ballot box

We have considered the case that, beyond
censute or training, the most appropriate
sanction for counciliars is the ‘ballot box’,
namely, the possibility that they could be

voted out at a local election as a result of
misconduct. We conclude that the ‘sanction of
the ballot box' is insufficient, both in principle
and in practice.

“Relying upon the electorate to address
poor member conduct at the ballot box
is insufficient. The current regime needs
to specifically include greater powers for
local authorities to robustly address poor
member conduct.™
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough
Council L

77 Clir Rory Love, Individual aral evidence, Wednesday 27 June 2018

78 Clir Simon Henig CBE, Individual oral evidence, Wednesday 18 July 2018

79 Written evidence 239 (Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council)

70

51




In cases where really serious misconduet
happens, and the perpetrator is not _
discouraged by adverse publicity, there is

a significant gap between how the current
system can deal with such cases and '
any criminal sanction, criminal sanctions
always being a final resort. The argument
that the ultimate arbiter of behaviour is

the public at the ballot box does not fully
answer this issue.® :
Wycombe District Council

It is of course accepted that the democratic

_ election of councillors must be respected.
Following this, some would argue that (barring
disqualification set out in law) only the public
who conferred that mandate thfough an '
election can take it away by means of another
election. It is argued that this is appropriate
because only the public can be the proper
judge of the suitability of a councillor to
represent them which they only have the -
proper authority to do in an election or re-
election.

Whilst the public will of course judge‘ standards

in public life at election time to some extent,
the process of choosing a representative

is based on wider political issues. As the
Committee stated in 2013, “[...] decisions
about who to vote for are made on the basis
of a number of considerations. It would be
undesirable for the electorate to have to set
aside the opportunity to express their wider
political views at election time simply to -

~ express a view on a-standards issue.”®! Indeed,
voting in elections is often drawn on party lines

rather than the overall suitability of an individual

candidate.

. Chapter 4: Sanctions

PUinQ expectations of elected representatives‘
continue to increase not diminish. High ethical
standards should be demonstrably observed

in practice throughout a term in office. Much
harm can be done to individual wellbeing, the
" democratic process, and council business.if

misconduct goes unchecked for up to four
years. '

~ Public participation ends at the ballot
box. There must be more to ensure
local governance commits to fulfil the
‘expeo’tations of their electorate where.
possible [...].%2
Clir David Gaye

"t is also the case that a large number of seats

in parish and town councils, and occasionally
at principal authority level in more sparsely
populated areas, are uncontested. In such
cirouimstances the public are not choosing to

- exercise their judgment, and as a result there

is no opportunity for electoral accountability to
influence ethical standards.

The argument that the ballot box wil
decide is a moot point when over 50% of
the town and parish councils in Cornwall
do not have elections-and these local
councillors are returned unopposed.®
Cornwall Council

Democratic representation carries both
privileges and responsibilities. The significance
of that mandate, and the rights and powers
that it gives to councillors, also means that

a councillor-is rightfully subject to the Seven
Principles of Public Life and the obligations

80 Written evidence 186 (Wycombe District Counail)

81 Committes on Standards In Public Life, Standards Matter (2013), Cm 8619, 4.18

82  Written evidence 302 (Clir David Gaye)
83 Wiitten evidence 147 (Cornwall Councl)

7

52




Chapter 4: Sanctions

_ under the council’s code of conduct.
Councillors’ conduct should reflect the
importance of their elected role and their
need to act in the public interest. A standards
regime that prevents a councillor from carrying

" out their role for a period, for example by

suspension, does not undermine a councilior’s -

electoral mandate. Rather it underlines the

significance of the fole and the expectations of

~ high ethical standards that come with elected,
office.

Sanctions in the devolved standards
bodies : o .
The sanctions available to the devolved
standards bodies in Wales, Scotland and

Northern Ireland, which were also available to .

the Adjudication Panel in England before its
abolition, are suspension for up to one year
and disqualification for up to five years.

“The devolved standards bodies have used
the most serious sanctions available to

them sparingly. In 2017/18, the Standards
Commission for Scotland has only once -
suspended a councillor for more than six
months (although a number of cases involved
. a coundillor who stqod down, where the
Commission indicated it would have imposed
suspension if it were available).?*

In 2016/17, the Northern Ireland Local
Government Commissioner for Standards
disqualified one councillor for three years, and

suspended one councillor for three months.® -

"In 2016/17, the Adjudication Panel for Wales
suspended four councillors, all for fewer than
six months.8 However, it should be noted that
almost 20% of references and appeals to the
Adjudication Panel smoe 2012 have resulted in
disqualification.

A‘PP B conTinueD

Stronger sanctions

We have concluded that stronger sanctions
should be made available to local authorities.

We have not seen compelling evidence for
introducing a power of disqualification. We
consider that there is very strong reason to
introduce a power of suspension, but this

should only be for a period of up to six months.

/

‘The evidence we received suggested that

the suspension of allowances would form an
impartant aspect of this sanction.

We would expect that such a power would

be used rarely. Suspension should be used
only in the case of the most serious breaches,
such as serious cases of bullying and
harassment, or significant breaches of the rules
on declaring financial interests; or else in the
case of repeated breaches or repeated non-
compliance with lower level sanctions.

The sanctions that could be made available to
local authorities depend upon the investigative

“processes and safeguards available to meet

the requirements of due process. The more
significant the sanction, the more important it is
that the process ensures impartial application
of sanctions. The evidence we have received
suggests that the power to disqualify or
suspend a councillor without allowances for .

- longer than six months would likely require

a formal independent tribunal arrangement

in order to oomply with a councillor's ECHR
Article 6 right to a fair trial. We do not consider
that such arrangements could be put in place
without the introduction of & central standards

- body, which we reject for the reasons

discussed in chapter 1.

84 Written evidence 106 (Standards Commission for Scotland)

85 Northern Ireland Local Government Commisstoner for Standards (2017), Annual Report 2016-17. Avallable online at:

hitps://nipso.org.uik/site/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/NILGCS-Report-2016-17. pdf
86 AdJudxcatlon Panel for Wales Register of Tribunals. Avallable online at: http://apw.gov. Wales/about/reglster -of-tribunals/?lang=en

72

53




, ;counclllors, W|t
_to six months.

Legislation giving effect to this should ensure
that non-attendance at council meetings-during
a period of suspension should be disregarded

~ for the purposes of section 85 of the Local
Government Act 1972, which provides that a
councillor ceases to be a member of the local
authority if they fail to attend council meetings
for six consecutive months.

Giving legal certainty to councils

At the moment, councils who impose

* sanctions at the most serious end of the
current range — premises bans and withdrawal
of facilities — are doing so without a clear basis
in statute or case law. The relevant case law
on sanctions has expressly identified training,
censure, or publicising the breach as within a
council’s power, but does not limit the available
sanctions to only these. We have heard expert
views on both sides of the argument as to
whether measures such as premises bans are
likely to be Ultra vires or could be considered
as tantamount o suspension; councils are
therefore accepting a certain measure of legal
risk in using these sanctions. The government
should make clear what local authorities’
powers are in this area, and put them beyond
doubt in legislation if necessary.

As we have seen, sanctions serve a number
of purposes in a standards framework,

one of which is the prevention of further
wrongdoing. Sanctions such as premises bans
and withdrawal of facilities may be useful for
- this purpose, as part of a range of available
sanctions. ' ‘

» doubt in Ieglslatlon if necessary

Criminal offences .in the Localism Act‘2011

“The provisions in the Localism Act make

it a criminal offence for a councillor to fal

to comply with their duties to. register or
declare Disclosable Pecuniary [nterests
(DPI), participate in a discussion or vote in

a matter in which they have a DPI, or take
any further steps in relation to such a matter.
The maximum penalty is a level & fine and
disqualification as a councillor for up to five
years. It is important to acknowledge the

“seriousness of such a matter and to continue

to support the need for serious sanctions

for non-compliance in these circumstances.
However, the evidence we have received
suggests overwhelmingly that resorting to the -
criminal law is not the most appropriate way to
handle such misdemeanours. '

The making of certain breaches a criminal
-offence does not to seem to have worked
as such matters have to be referred to the
police who, from my experience, are not
geared up to the local government world
and do not (understandably) see such
matters as a high priority to them...matters
can take a long time and often end up
being handed back to the council to deal
with in any case.®”

Taunton Deane Borough Council

87 Written evidence 131 (Taunton Deane Borough Counci)

73

54




i |

e e L

Chapter 4: Sanctlons

The current arrangements are disproportionate.

Failure to register or manage interests is a
breach of the Seven Principles and damaging

' to.the public interest, but it would usually
be remedied by the application of internal
sanctions. To potentially criminalise a public -
office-holder for'what is essentially.a code
of conduct matter is inappropriate. It sets
a high bar for the standard of proof and is
a costly process for the public purse. It is
also, inevitably, a long process which can be
disproportionately stressful. We have heard
evidence which suggests that the police are
wary of the potential for politically motivated
allegations and the highly sensitive nature of
investigations to which they may not be able
to allocate sufficient resources when budgets
are constrained. We also heard of a number of
instances where the police have not pursued -
cases referred 1o them.

Recommendation 18: The criminal v
offences in the Localism Act 2011

relating to Disclosable Pecuniary.
Interests should be abolished.

Disqualification of councillors .

The criteria for disqualification of councillors
are currently relatively limited. In the case

of a councillor being convicted of a criminal
offence, they would only be disqualified if they
are imprisoned for three months or mofe.

74

| /AcPP B CONT/.NU‘U)

Current law on the disqualification of
councillors

Under section 80 of the Local Government
Act 1972, a person is disqualified from
standing as a candidate or being a
member of a local authority, if they:

e are subject to bankruptcy orders

e are imprisoned for three months or
more on conviction of a criminal offence
(without the option of a fine) '

e are found personally guilty of corrupt or
ilegal practice in an election '

They are also disqualified If they:
* are employed by the local authority

» are employed by a company which is
under the control- of the local authority

* are employed under the direction of
various local authority committees,
“boards or the Greater London Authority

e are a teacher in a school maintained by
the local authority

The Ministry for Housing, Communities

and Local Government have committed to
bringing forward legislation to addtothe
existing criteria for disqualification, following a
public consultation in September 2017. The . -

* additjonal conditions will include being listed on

the sex offenders register, receiving a Criminal
Behaviour Order under section 22 of the Anti-
social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014,
and recéiving a civil injunction under section 1
of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime ‘and Policing
Act 2014. We support these changes, which
will better reflect the expectations of the public.

55




4

Chapter 8: Leadership and culture

Chapter 8:~ Leadership and culture

Leadership

Leadership is essential in .embedding an ethical

culture. We have considered throughout our
review where, primarily, leadership comes from'
in local government — who sets the tone when
its comes to ethics and standards. We have
concluded that leadership is needed from a
range of senior individuals, given the multi-
faceted nature of local government and the
distinctive remits of different roles.

Leadership is needed from a local authority’s
standards committee. Standards committees
play a role not just in formally adjudicating on
alleged breaches of the code of conduct, but
by continuously reviewing ethical standards
in the council, and drawing the authority’s
attention to areas where standards could be
better upheld. Standards committees should
see themselves as playing a leadership role
in setting expectations of behaviour and
continually holding the authority to account on
standards issues.

The Chief Executive also plays an important
role, especially among officers. Their leadership
role includes modelling high standards of
conduct, particularly those distinctive to

+ officers in respect of political impartiality and
objectivity. But the Chief Executive must

also show leadership by empowering other
senior officers — such as the Monitoring
Officer — to carry out their role effectively. The
‘Chief Executive is ultimately responsible for
guarding the demarcation between officers and
members, and needs to be clear about when
members need to take a decision, and when
officers should have the discretion to carry out
their roles as they see fit.

If the Chief Executive is weak and senior
officers are not backed up then they are
stymied as there is nowhere else to go.'®?
Dame Stella Manzie DBE

Leaders of political groups play a vital leadership
role among councillors. Political group leaders
set the tone for how new councillors will engage
with each other, and set expectations for how
councillors will engage with officers. Leader of
political groups not only need to model high
standards themselves, but should be-quick to
address poor behaviour when they see it. They
should seek to mentor and advise councillors

in their party on how to maintain standards of
conduct, and be willing to use party discipline
when necessary. The leader of the council plays
an important role here: as the most visible group
leader, they should model the highest standards
of conduct and address any poor behaviour by
portfolio-holders. '

Where group leaders can appoint councillors
to the standards committee, they should
demonstrate leadership by appointing
members who have the experience and
commitment to fulfil that role effectively.

Last, there is a leadership role played by

the chair of the council. When this post is
occupied by a senior and respected member,
they can play a role in setting the tone of full
council meetings, and ensure that councillors
— regardless of party group — are aware of the
expectations for how they engage with each

"other and with officers. This is particularly

important in order to provide support for
councillors who are not members of a political
group, which we discuss further below.

132 Dame Stella Manzie DBE, Individual oral evidence, Monday 20 August 2018

95

56




Chapter 8: Leadership and culture

Turning around a culture

As part of our review, we took evidence from a

number of experienced Chief Executives and

Commissioners who have each turned around
“an unhealthy organisational culture in one of

more local authorities. '

This evidence, alongside our consideration

of reports on corporate failures at specific
authorities over the recent-years, suggests that
four measures are needed from senior leaders
. in order to turn around an unhealthy cufture.

First, senior leadership modelling the expected
behaviours and signalling from the first day
how these behaviours look, sound and feel.
This is particularly the case, as we have
discussed above, inthe early days of a new’

- céunail or in the case of corporate renewal,
once new senior officers or commissioners
have been put in place. As well as modeling
the expected behaviour, this element of
installing and maintaining an ethical culture
is about a prasent, visible and accessible
leadership. «

As a leader in a council in trouble | think
you have to be absolutely cléar what you
expect, and model that behaviour

pvery day.'® -

Max Caller CBE, Commissioner,
Northamptonshire County Coungcil

| meet every new starter and tell them
w/oy are a fresh pair of eyes. Do call things
out. You are a really valuable asset”, so
you set that expectation to challenge and
seek improvement.really early on. 1%

Dawn French, Chief Executive,
Uttlesford District Council, Essex

A’PP B conTinueR

This demonstrated form of visible leadership
can also straddle the member-officer '
divide, with meetings between new officers
and council and group leaders to discuss
standards being routine until the tone of the
council is reset. |

Secondly, an attentiveness to even small
practices that do not match expected
hehaviour. Taking a ‘zero tolerance’

approach even to small breaches may be
disproportionate when there is a healthy .
culture, but is necessary to embed the required
behaviours when trying to reverse an unhealthy
culture. T

Thiere have been standards issues in

the authorities in which [l have worked],
ranging from informality about the parkind
passes, to trying to keep information
away from the opposition, to informality
in granting licences, of t0 circumventing
proper financial regulations, Even the
lowest level of wrongdoing needs
attention, through a private conversation,
and when unaddressed can lead to more
significant wrongdoing.*®

Dame Stella Manzie DBE

Thirdly, the timely, fair and accurate
identification by senior leadership of
opportunities for development and occasions
for discipline of those who aré in danger of
breaching the rules. An effective leader turning
around an unhealthy culture will identify the
underlying motives of behaviour, to judge
whether it is more appropriate privately to
advise and correct an individual, or to discipline
them. , '

133 Max Caller CBE, Individuat oral evidence, Thursday 20 September 2018
184 Dawn French, Visit to Uttlesford District Coungl, Monday 10 Septernber 2018
135 Dame Stella Manzie DBE, Individual oral evidence, Monday 20 August 2018 .

)

. 96

57




Opportunities to develop individuals to build a

more effective culture may change over time,

and this is even more the case for a council
experiencing a period of transition.

Fourthly, whilst there is clearly a role for interim
appointments in order to provide transitional
leadership, interim arrangements should not be
overstretched, to allow new leaders to embed
long-term changes to the organisation’s
culture.

When you have prolonged interim officers,
that has a problem for the cuiture in the
longer term. In the interim term, they
[interim appointees] can never start to
work on those sorts of things. 198

Max Caller CBE, Commissioner,
Northamptonshire County Council

The role of political groups

Whilst political parties can form only part of

. the system, and are not a substitute either
for effective senior dfficers, or for the formal
standards process, they nevertheless have an
important role to play in showing leadership
and maintaining an ethical culture.

All the political parties need to get a lot-
more organised and ccherent about
standards in loeal authorities. That would

“still be important even if local authorities
had the power to sanction councillors.™”
Dame Stella Manzie DBE

The role of party groups in maintaining an
ethical culture can be conceptualised in two
ways. The first is a ‘parallel’ model, where the
activities of political groups are undertaken

in parallel alongside activities of the local .

Chapter 8: Leadership and culture

authority, for example, parallel disciplinary
processes, training, and so on. The second is
a ‘layered’ model, where political groups play
a distinct role that sits between direct advice
from officers on the one hand and formal
processes undertaken by the.local authority on
the other.

We see risks in local authorities adopting a

~‘parallel’ model. In practice,.parallel processes

will mean either that political groups are not
used and engaged with effectively, which
neglects opportunities for informal training
and resolution; or that the effective standards
training and discipline become, in time,
delegated to political groups, which lacks
the necessary checks, independence, and
transparency. Such a model also tends to
depend heavily on individual post-holders,
which means that the autherity may face
standards risks if there is a change either in

political Ieaders,hip or in those occupying senior

officer posts.

Rather, local authorities should see political
groups as a semi-formal institution in the
‘layered’ model. We heard that group whips
will often see mentoring new councillors and
supporting existing councillors as an important
part of their role. When it comes to training,
local authorities should value and utilise the
informal mentoring and support within political
groups that can complement the formal
training offered by the local authority and
advice from officers. Senior officers should
regularly engage with group whips and group
members to understand the training needs

of members and to ensure that the right
expectations are set for how councillors act in
the chamber, on committees, with officers, and
on outside bodies.

With respeét to disciplinary processes, ideally
the Monitoring Officer or deputy should

136 Max Callef CBE, Individual oral evidence, Thursday 20 September 2018
187 Dame Stella Manzie DBE, Individual oral evidence, Monday 20 August 2018

97

58




Chapter 8: Leadership and culture

seek early, informal resolution of emerging
issues with members. If, for whatever reason,
it is considered that a direct approach is
inadvisable or the issue is politically sensitive,
senior officers should seek to work with group
leaders and whips in order to address the
issue of a member’s conduct. Where there is
a formal complaint, or the issue is a serious
one; the formal standards processes should
be followed, with the necessary checks and
transparency. :

There s a balance here, and it is about
degrees; | know there are times when it's
right to go through a formal process in the
council with the greater transparency that
brings: But there are also times when any
‘sanction would fail if it went through that
process. But actually the person probably
has gone further than they should have
done, it's up .against that fine line of the
Seven Principles and what they need is

a stern warning. It's better sometimes to
have that reflected on during 30 days’
suspension from their group rather than

go through a formal process that finds that -
there is insufficient evidence.™®

Clir Rory Love, Chairman,
Conservative Councillors’ Association

 Best practice 15: Senior officers
should meet regularly with political

"group leaders or group whips to
discuss standards issues.

We heard evidence of the difficulties presented
by new political groups, or independent

. members who sit outside the formal group
structures. New political groups will not always
enable the mentoring of new coundiliors, to

' A‘PP g CONT:N@

set expectations of behaviour, or for officers to
draw on long-standing working relationships
with group leaders. In the case of councillors
who sit outside group structures, party
discipline and the use of informal approaches
to deal with potential misconduct are not

" possible. As aresult, we heard that, generally,

political grotps can maintain ethical standards
more effectively in an authority when they
tend to be larger and better resourced. This .
points to a need for officers to provide greater
support and ensure a ful induction process
for councillors who lack the support of an
established political group.

Building an ethical culture -

The aim of a standards system is ultimately

to build an ethical culture: to embed high
standards throughout an organisation, so

that it becomes an integral part of how the
organisation works as a whole, and how each
individual person goes about their role within it.

. Having a system which effectively investigates

complaints which is punitive where necessary
is important; what is more important is a
system which enables good behaviour.

An ethical culture starts with tone. A civil tone
when conducting politics is the basic starting
point for a healthy ethical culture. This is true
both for the relationship between councillors -
and officers, and the relationship between
different councillors. A common aim of elected
members and those supporting them is to ‘
work for the benefit of the community they all
serve. This provides a solid basis for an ethical
culture. Of course, such civility ‘does not mean

that individual members or officers should not

feel free to challenge or pursue inquiries, but .
concerns can be expressed in such a way as
t0-be constructive and civil in tone.

Secondly, a local authority needs to set clear
expectations of behaviour, as well as its

138 Clir Rory Love, lndividual'oral evidence, Wednesday 27 June 2018

98

59




underlying rationale, namely to enable the
local authority to perform its functions in a way
~ which is in the public interest. This behaviour
needs to.be modelled by senior leaders and
the expectations of behaviour need to be
followed through in advice from officers and
group leaders, and any party discipline or
sanctions process. The expected behaviour
of councillors needs to be set out at an early
stage in induction and training programmes.

Our evidence from'local authorities suggests
that induction for councillors at the earliest
stage is crucial to ensuring high standards

of conduct. Councils we visited that had not
‘previously arranged training or left it until the

- dynamics of-the groups were set after a new
term, were now putting plans in place to
ensure that training could occur at an earlier

- stage in subsequent terms. Councils who
perceived they had an effective ethical culture .
attributed this to early and effective induction
of councillors with clear messages from senior
leadership about attendance.

“To be successful, induction training should not
be dry or compliance-focussed, but should
set out the rationale for high standards in
public life, and should be scenario-based so
that councillors can*engage with concrete
examples and see the relevance of standards
to different areas of activity in which they might
- be involved.

Thie evidence we received suggests that such
training, even where offered, may not always
be taken up by councillors. We therefore

+ suggest that a stronger role should be played
by political groups and national political parties
to ensure that councillors attend relevant
training on ethical standards where this is
offered by their local authority.

We have considered whether any particular
voting pattern — electing councillors every four
years, in halves, or in thirds — makes it easier
to induct coundillors or to preserve an ethical
culture. We have concluded that each pattern
has advantages and drawbacks in preserving -
an ethical culture, given the trade-off between
regularity of turnover, and the proportion of
councillors who are potentially replaced at
each election. There is no ‘optimal’ pattern;
what matters more is early induction by the
local authority. 3

Thirdly, an objective, impartial Monitoring Officer,
who enjoys the confidence of members and of
senior-officers, is essential. It is important that
councillors of all parties know that they can
approach the Monitoring Officer in confidence
for authoritative and impartial advice.

Fourthly, an ethical culture is an open culture. A
local authority should take an open approach

to its decision-making, with a presumption that

reports and decisions should be public unless
there are clear and lawful reasons that the

“information should be withheld.

When scrutiny is seen as an unnecessary
evil and that is what the culture is, it is
difficult to know whether decisions are
being made properly.’®
Max Caller CBE, Commissioner,

. Northamptonshire County Council

139 Max Caller CBE, Individual oral evidence, Thursday 20 September 2018

99

60




Chapter 8: Leaderéhlp and culture

We have been concerned by reports of
councils relying unnecessarily on commercial
confidentiality as a reason to withhold
information, and of using informal working
groups or pre-meetings in order to hold

" discussion out of the view of the public,

in full cabinet or full council. As the House

of Cornmons Communities and Local

~ Government Committee concluded in relation -
to commercial information held by local
_authorities, “[...Jwe cannot seé a justification
for withholding such information from

~ coungillors [...] councils should be reminded
that there should always be an assumption.

of transparency whenever possible, and that

. councillors scrutinising setvices need access to
all financial and performance information held
by the authority”.* ' -

High quality and engaged local journalism can :

help to maintain standards by bringing to light
council’s decisions and councillors’ behaviour.
We heard in Camden Council, for example,
that maintaining an ethical culturé was helped
by a highly engaged civic community and
strong local press, due to the expectation that
behaviour and decisions would be publicly
reported. '

In Camden, we have a very active local
press. There is not much that we do that
doesn't get reported. That is probably
one (amongst a number) of the positive
drivers towards high standards among
councillors — what our councillors do and
how they behave matters as it is noticed
and reported on.'!

Andrew Maughan, Monitoring
Camden Council

Officer,

/IQPP B COI\I'TI}\JUF‘)

We are aware, however, that there is a decline

© of public interest journalism undertaken by

the local press in many areas of the country... -
In some areas of the UK, public-interest
journalism is undertaken privately by bloggers,
but the quality of such journalism can vary
significantly. This suggests to us that local
government as a sector cannot rely on public
interest journalism to provide the requisite
transparency in decision-making; rather-local
authorities muist have the right processes and
attitudes in their own organisation to enable
external scrutiny of behaviour and decisions.

The role of public-interest journalism is

“telling people things they didn’t know". It

includes both an investigative aspect and S
encouraging public engagement with local

democracy.?

Darryl Chamberlain, editor, 853 blog:

The scrutiny function within a local authority is
vital to.ensure effective and ethical decision-
making. An authority should welcorne and
support scrutiny, seeing it as an opportunity

to improve the quality of decision-making

by challenging assumptions, probing policy
intent. and testing viability. An authority should .
.ideally take a risk-based approach to scrutiny,
submitting decisions which carry the greatest
risk to the greatest degree of scrutiny. The
definition. of risk should be based on the risk to
the public interest, in respect of the authority’s
duties, not reputational risk to the organisation.

140 House of Commons Communities and Local Government Committee (2017), Effectiveness of local authority overview and scrutiny
committees, HC 369, para 41 .

141 Andrew Maughan, Visit to Camden Counil, Monday 15 October 2018

o142 Darryl Chamberlain, individual oral svidence, Tuesday 4 Septernber 2018

100 .

61




. [In an unhealthy organisational culture],
self regard takes over and leaders end up
spending their time looking at risk registers
about reputational damage, rather than
what the risks to the public are.!®
Barry Quirk CBE, Chief Executive,
Royal-Borough of Kensington &
Chelsea

Councils should be open to processes such

as peer review, for example, as offered through

the Local Government Assoclation, in order

to test the effectiveness of their culture and
“organisational and governance structures.

Such reviews 'should also include consideration

of the.processes the authority has i in plaoe to

maintain ethical standards.

_ Recommendation 26:Local .
| Government Association corporate
- peer reviews should also include

_consideration of a local authority’ S' .
_ processes for. mamtammg ethlcal
standards. s

In the first instance, officers and portfolio-
holders need to take decisions in a way that
are open to scrutiny by council members.
Local government differs from central
government in that officials are accountable to
full council, not to the administration. Coungil
officers therefore have a general obligation

to provide information to councillors and to
account for decisions to councillors. Officers
should ensure that members are aware of their
right to gain information and to ask questions,
and the culture of the authority should

reflect the accountability of officers and the
administration to full oounoll

Chapter 8: Leadership and culture

Common law rights of councillors to knew

what is going on are well established

in local government. It is not about
regulations (although they are there), it is
about making sure the culture says ‘these
people are elected and have entitlement
to know and there are some rules about
confidentiality’. They can’t pursue cases
where they have individual. reasons for not
being involved.44

Max Caller CBE, Commissioner,.

Northamptonshire County CGouncil

143 Barry Quirk CBE, Individual oral evidence, Wednesday 19 September 2018

144- Max Caller CBE, Indlvidual oral evidence, Thursday 20 September 2018

62

101




List of recommendations -

List of recommendations

Nﬂmber

Recommendation

| /AYPPC—QDMC C

Responsible body

The Local deemment Association should create an

. updated model code'of conduct, in consultation with
‘ representahve bodies of councillors and officers of all tiers:

of local g®vernment

Local Government
Association

The government should ensure that candidates standing
for or acceptirnig public offices are not required publicly

to disclose their home address. The Relevant Authorities
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 201 2 should
be amended to clarify that a councillor does not need to -
register their home address onan authorltys register of
mterests

Government

Counciilors should be presumed to be acting in an official
capacity in their public conduct, including statements

on publicly-accessible social media. Section 27(2) of the

| ocalism Act 2011 should be amended.to permit local
authorities to presume so when deciding upon code of
conduct.breaches.

Government

Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be -
amended to state that a local authority’s' code of conduct
applies to a member when they claim to act, or give the

‘impression they are acting, in their capacity as a member

or as a representative of the local authority.

*Government

The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)
Regulations 2012 should be amended to include: unpaid
directorships; trusteeships; management roles in a charity
or a body of a public nature; and membership of any
organisations that seek to influence opinion ot public

policy.

Government

| ocal authorities should be required to establish a register
of gifts and hospitality, with councillors required to record.
any gifts and hospitality received over a value of £50,

or totalling £100 over a year from a single source. This

" requirement should be included in an updated model

code of conduct.

Government

14

63




APPenix C . CON TIN OED

Number

List of recommendatlons

Recommendation Responsible body

Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 should be repealed, Government
and replaced with a requirement that councils include in

“their code of conduct that a councillor must not participate

in a discussion or vote in a matter to be considered at a

‘meeting if they have any interest, whether registered or

not, “if a member: of the public, with knowledge of the
relevant facts, would reasonably regard the interest as so
significant that it is likely to prejudice your consideration or
decision-making .in relation to that matter”.

The Localism Act 2011 should be amended to require Government
that Independent Persons are appointed for a fixed term ‘
of two years, renewable once. ‘

The Local Government Transparency Code should be Government
updated to provide that the view of the Independent

Person in relation to a decision on which they are

consulted should be formally recorded in any decision

notice or minutes.

10

A local authority should only be able to suspend a " Government
councillor where the authority’s Independent Person
agrees both with the finding of a breach and that

' suspending the councillor would be a proportionate

sanction.

11

Local authorities should provide legal indemnity to -Government / all
Independerit Persons if their views or advice are local-authorities
distlosed. The government should require this through .

secondary legislation if needed.

12

Local authorities should be given the discretionary power Government

"to establish a decision-making standards committee with

~ voting independent members and voting members from

dependent parishes, to decide on allegations and impose
sanctions. -

13

Councillors should be given the right to appeal to the Government
Local Government Ombudsman if their local authority
imposes a period of suspension for breaohmg the oode

of conduct.

15

64




ey i

'Llst‘of recommendations

Number

Recommendation

IACPP C :COMTIND‘E_D

Responsible body

14

The Local Government Ombudsman should be given
the power to investigate and decide upon an allegation
of-a code of conduct breach by a councillor, and the
appropriate sanction, on appeal by a councillor who has
had a suspension imposed. The Ombudsman’s decision
should be binding on the local authority.

Government”

15

The Local Government Transparency Code should be
updated to require councils to publish annually: the -
number of code of conduct complaints they receive; what
the- complaints broadly relate to {e.g. bullying; conflict of
interest); the outcome of those complaints, including if

they are rejected as trivial or vexatious; and any sanctions

applied.

Government

16

Local authorities should be given the power to ‘suspend _
councillors, without allowances, for up to six months.

Govefnment

17

The government should clarify if councils may lawfully bar
councillors from council premises or withdraw facllities as
sanctions. These powers should be put beyond doubt in
legislation if necessary...

Government

18

. The criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests should be abolished.

Government .

19

Parish council clerks should hold an appropriate
qualification, such as those provided by the Society of

" Local Council Clerks.

Parish councils

20

Section 27(3) of the Localism Act 2011 should be
amended to state that parish councils must adopt the
code of conduct of their principal authority, with the
necessary amendments, or ’the1 new model code.

Government

21

Section-28(11) of the, Localism Act 2011 should be
amended to state that any sanction imposed on a parish
councillor following the finding of a breach is to be
determined by the relevant principal authority.

Government

22

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulatlons 2015 should be amended to
provide that disciplinary protections for statutory officers
extend to all disciplinary action, not just dismissal.

Government

16

65




/AcPP, C con TINOED

List of recommendations

Number Recommendation . Responsible body
The Local Government Transparency Code should be . Government
updated to provide that local authorities must ensure that ‘

23 their whistleblowing policy specifies a named contact for

the external auditor alongside their contact details, which
should be available on the authority’s website.

o4 Councillors should be listed as ‘prescribed persdns’ for Government
. the purposes of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998.

Counoilloré should be requiréd to attend formal induoti'on Political groups

o5 training by their political groups. National parties should ‘
© add such a requirement to their model group rules. National political
' : parties

Local Government Association Corporate peer reviews Local Government

26 should also include consideration of a local.authority’s Association

processes for maintaining ethical standards.

17

66




,A(pp@\sbtx

~ List of best practice

List of best practice

Our best practice recommendations are directed to local authorities, and we expect that any local
authority can and should implement them. We intend to review the implementation of our best

practice in 2020.

Best bractice 1: Local authorities shbuld include brohibitions on bullying and harassment
in codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and harassment, -
supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition.

Best pra,ctiée 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring
councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation, and prohibiting trivial or
mali¢ious allegations by councillors. '

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their' codé of conduct each year and
regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations and
neighbouring authorities. ' :

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors-and
the public, in a prominent position on a council’'s website and available in council premises.

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update'their gifts and hospitality register at least
once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV. :

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public inferest test
against which allegations are filtered. ‘

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent
Persons. ‘ :

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to undertake
a formal investigation on an allegation, and should be given the option to review and
comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss as being without

merit, vexatious, or trivial.

18

67




kPP b CONTINUEN

List of best practice

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of misconduct
following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as soon as possible
on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by
the allegations, the view of the lndependent Person, the reasoning of the decision- maker

and any sanotlon applied.

. Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible guidance.
on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the process for
handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish councillor
towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the pansh council as a whole, rather
than the clerk in aII but exceptional oxroumstances ;

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support and
management of investigations.and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish councils

- within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with adequate training,
- corporate support and resources to undertake this work.

Best practice 13: A local authority shouid have ~procedures in place to address
any conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps
should include asking the Momtormg Officer from a different authonty to undertake the

. investigation.

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or which
they own as part of their annual governance statement, and give a full picture of their
relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities should abide
by the Nolan principle of openness, and publish their board agendas and minutes and

annual reports in an accessible place.

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or
group whips to discuss standards issues.

68

19




Agenda Item 6

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

CHAIRMAN: Clir Rosalind Prowse

DATE: 27 February 2019

REPORT OF: Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer
SUBJECT: Review of Standards

RECOMMENDATION

The Standards Committee is recommended to resolve that:

(a)

and

(b)

1.1

2.1

2.2

A task and finish group (as outlined in the report) is established to
undertake a review of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members and
the associated complaints procedure;

A programme of standards training / member development is established
for 2019/20 which all District Councillors are expected to attend.

PURPOSE

To consider steps which the Committee might wish to pursue in support of its
duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct.

BACKGROUND

The Committee will be aware that the current Code of Conduct has been in
place since 2012. In line with the Council’s statutory duty to promote and
maintain high standards of conduct, it is advisable for the Committee to
regularly review the effectiveness of the Code of Conduct; whether the
associated complaints procedure might be improved; and what training might
be appropriate. A review of the current code is also timely given the recent
publication of a report on standards of conduct in public, which includes best
practice recommendations for local authorities (see previous agenda item).

Nationally, the current statutory regime which has been in place since 2011,
has been criticised for being ineffective and ‘too light’ touch, having removed
sanctions especially the power to suspend. Within this ‘light touch’ regime and
in general comparison to other codes across the country for principal local
authorities, one might also view the Council’s current code as of even ‘lighter
touch’, the Council's code being based upon a model which was
recommended for parish and town councils. This model does not, for
example, include a provision covering what might be described as more

69




3.1

3.2

3.3

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

general unacceptable behaviour contrary to the Nolan Principles, namely a
requirement upon councillors not to act in a manner which brings the office of
councillor or the Council into disrepute. Further although the rules regarding
interests are clear, they are limited and do not cover the range of interests
(other than DPIs which are statutory) where there are conflicts between private
and public lives and as such when one might expect a member to refrain from
participating in the consideration of a matter. It is also considered that there is
a lack of clarity in the current code and investigations procedure as to the
relevance of the Nolan Principles, resulting in situations where complaints are
made purely with reference to those principles rather than the provisions of the
Code which are not as comprehensive as they could be.

COMPLAINTS IN 2018

Whilst the light touch standards regime was intended in part to reduce costs in
administering standards in local government and to discourage complaints
which might be viewed for example as frivolous, political or a result of
dissatisfaction with decisions made by authorities, in practice this did not prove
to be the case for all councils. Consistent with such, a good proportion of the
complaints received by the Council’s Monitoring Officer appear to have fallen
into these latter three categories.

Over the last 12 months it is understood a total of 17 formal complaints have
been received of which nine concerned town and parish councillors and the
remainder district councillors.  Excluding four complaints which remain
outstanding at the date of this report, the complaints were either (i) withdrawn,
(ii) dismissed (as not amounting to a breach) or (iii) no further action was taken
as for example the matter was resolved informally due to the breach being
accepted, voluntary action being taken to readdress the matter, or the issues
concerned amounting to personal disputes. In addition, concerns about
member standards which have not amounted to complaints, have been raised
and resolved informally.

The principal themes of standards issues appear to concern failure to declare
interests in the case of parish and town councils; and for all councils in the
area generally, disrespect. Although a concern has also been raised about a
possible breach of confidentiality, within the District Council allegations of
disrespect appear to arise most frequently; with the disrespectful behaviour
alleged largely being directed towards officers and other members. Concern
has been raised that even though formal complaints have not always been
made, the conduct of some members in high profile public meetings towards
each other and officers has been poor on occasion. Although many
comments between members might reasonably be viewed as political banter,
similar comments directed to individual officers (particularly when they cannot
respond to the member on an equal footing in public meetings) are not. Given
the poor conduct of individual members in meetings adversely affects the
image of the Council as a whole, it is important that collectively, all members
(not simply those chairing meetings or the Standards Committee) discourage
and if needed, challenge poor conduct at the time.

70



3.4

3.5

41

4.2

4.3

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Irrespective of any changes which are made to the Code of Conduct as a
result of a possible internal review, it is recommended that regular updates
and training on conduct issues are provided on behalf of the Committee to all
Council members. Training events could include officers as well as members
to help encourage more respectful behaviour towards each other and secure a
better understanding of their different roles and perspectives on what is said or
done.

Complaints in recent months regarding Parish and Town Councils have often
concerned the administration or decision making of the councils as opposed to
the behaviour of individual members. Also enquiries received indicate that
there is a misplaced view that the Monitoring Officer is an adjudicator between
parishioners and town / parish councillors regarding local disputes. This may
be indicative of an historical approach to parish issues, but does highlight a
lack of clarity as what is a code of conduct complaint and the limited standards
role the District Council has in respect to parish / town councils. Further work
is needed with parish and town councils in this regard over the coming
months. Consideration should also be given by the Standards Committee in
due course (whether as part of its proposed review or subsequently) to training
for these authorities and how the complaints procedure is presented and
publicised.

TASK & FINISH GROUP

It will be appreciated by members that whilst changes to the standards regime
as a result of the recent report of the Committee on Standards in Public life are
probable, it is most unlikely that Parliament will be directing its attention to
standards legislation for some months. Consequently, the report writer
recommends that the Committee should in line with its current statutory duty
proceed to undertake a review of the Council’s current code of conduct and its
complaint process. By commencing such now, it may be possible for the
Committee to make recommendations to full Council on an amended code for
implementation from the start of the next council term.

Regarding the review of the existing code as previously indicated,
consideration should be given to strengthening the provisions. As for the
complaints procedure (which includes the hearings process), a review could
be directed to simplifying the explanation of the complaints process but also to
enable complaints to be assessed more quickly and allegations which warrant
investigation to be referred to a specialist standards sub-committee (rather
than the whole Committee) for determination. In the latter regard complaints
could be determined ‘on paper rather than there always being a formal
hearing which can be intimidating and unnecessarily adversarial.

In any event, the review group should specifically consider the good practice

recommendations particularly in view of any comments made by the
Standards Committee as part of the debate on the preceding agenda item.

71



4.4

4.5

4.6

5.1

5.2

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

It is proposed that the Committee appoints a small cross party task & finish
group of up to five persons to undertake the review. It is suggested that
subject to their availability, both independent members be invited to take part
in the group and that there be three other members comprising one from each
political group including the Chair of Standards. Group Leaders have each
been invited to nominate a member from their political group.

The group would not be making decisions but consider in detail as part of its
examination, views on the standards of members; the current level and type of
code of standards complaints which have been made; and the
appropriateness of applying some / all of the best practice recommendations.
The group could for example, interview officers and members on existing
standards as well consider approaches taken by other authorities which are
relevant to the standards applied within the Council.

A group of the nature proposed should consider the key issues informally and
thus frankly with a view to making recommendations to Committee for formal
consideration as soon as possible. Although the District Council’'s Code has
been adopted by parish and town councils within Teignbridge, for the
avoidance of doubt, it is not suggested that they should adopt any new version
which the Committee might subsequently recommend to Council following the
review. Instead, consideration might be given in due course to providing
training to parish and town councils on how they might go about reviewing
their existing code in the light of the good practice recommendations and / or
any changes in the law.

CONCLUSION

It is important to ensure that the complaints system and the Code are fit for
purpose (i.e. to promote and maintain high standards of member conduct) and
not used for ulterior motives particularly given the resources involved in
dealing with complaints. Whilst there has been a backlog in complaints to
address in recent months, in the last 3 months’ costs involved are in the region
of £14,200 of officer / investigator time alone. Clearly this only serves to
detract from core business. Furthermore, poor conduct does not reflect well
on the Council as a whole.

In summary, the recommendations in this report are intended to secure that
the Committee undertakes a positive role over the coming months and is seen
to deal with unacceptable behaviour robustly so far as the existing law permits.

Officer Name: Karen Trickey
Officer Designation: Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer

Wards affected All

Contact for any more information karen.trickey@teignbridge.gov.uk
Key Decision N

In Forward Plan N

In O&S Work Programme N

Community Impact Assessment attached: N/a

72



mailto:karen.trickey@teignbridge.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Report into the Review of Standards in Public Life
	Report on Standards in Public Life  App A
	Report on Standards in Public Life App B
	Report on Standards in Public Life App C
	Report on Standards in Public Life App D

	6 Review of the Code of Conduct

